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Unknown Soldier
We do not know his rank or his battalion. We do
not know where he was born, or precisely how and
when he died. We do not know where in Australia
he has made his home or when he left it for the
battlefields of Europe. We do not know his age or
his circumstances; whether he was from the city or
the bush; what occupation he left to become a
soldier; what religion, if he had a religion; if he was
married or single. We do not know who loved him
or whom he loved. If he had children we do not
know who they are. His family is lost to us as he was
lost to them.
We will never know who this Australian was. Yet he
has always been among those we have honoured. We
know that he was one of the 45,000 Australians who
died on the Western Front. One of the 416,000
Australians who volunteered for service in the First
World War. One of the 324,000 Australians who served
overseas in that war, and one of the 60,000 Australians
who died on foreign soil. One of the 100,000
Australians who have died in wars this century.

He is all of them. And he is one of us.
Just as the Unknown Soldier represents the sacrifice
made by our forebears and symbolises the ANZAC
spirit, the ANZAC Health and Medical Research
Foundation will in perpetuity add to our Nation’s
understanding and confidence about our place in
the world and our capacity to play a creative and
humane part in it. The Foundation’s vision will
encourage us to recognise how important it is for
our Nation to believe in great ideas and to have
them at the forefront of our ambitions.
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Vision
To provide leadership and excellence in health
and medical research activities throughout
Australia, focusing on lifestyle and ageing issues
to improve the future health standards for the
Australasian community. In so doing the
Foundation plans to provide a lasting legacy to
the veterans and war widows who have created
the society we have today.

Mission
• To undertake research to study and improve
healthcare delivery and outcomes, including
epidemiological studies, particularly among
the veteran and war widow community and
children of veterans.
• To optimise support from the wider
community in order to facilitate our vision.
• To promote and conduct health research in
the areas of lifestyle and ageing that
significantly impact on Australians and their
families, and in doing so focus upon the
needs of the community serviced by Concord
Repatriation General Hospital.
• To construct a state of the art Research
Institute on the campus of Concord
Repatriation General Hospital.
• To provide leadership and excellence in
research activities throughout Australasia.
• To apply research to product development
within Australia where possible.
• To sponsor education and training in relevant
health disciplines.
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The year 2001 has been one of considerable
achievement for the ANZAC Health &
Medical Research Foundation. On behalf of
the Council of the Foundation, I am pleased
to present this report outlining the
accomplishments achieved during the last
2 months.
I am delighted to report that the ANZAC
Research Institute building has now been
completed and is in its first year of operation.
Research workers from four of the Institute’s
planned research groups, Neurobiology,
Andrology, Biogerontology and Cell & Vascular
Biology, now occupy the Building and we look
forward to Professor Markus Seibel, the newly
appointed Professor of Endocrinology at Concord
Hospital, occupying the fourth laboratory, to be
known as the Bone Biology laboratory, towards
the end of 2001.

In 1994 when the Foundation was established,
the ANZAC Research Institute building was not
even a dream. Now it is a tangible reality, the
newest medical research institute in NSW. During
the year we were delighted to be advised that
his Excellency, the Right Reverend Dr Peter
Hollingworth AC OBE, Governor-General of the
Commonwealth of Australia, had consented to
become our Patron-In-Chief in succession to Sir
William Deane AC KBE.

Early in the year we began conducting
information tours for the members of the Friends
of the ANZAC Institute. These were well
attended and we hope to hold more in the
coming year.

The Foundation also organised several successful
functions aimed at raising the profile of the
Institute in the community as well as at collecting
funds for support of the Institute’s operation.

raised much needed funds for the Foundation.
Our next annual dinner will be held at the
Regent Hotel, Sydney on 19 October 2001.

During the year we were fortunate once again to
enjoy the hospitality of Lady Fairfax who hosted
our Annual Cocktail party at her home,
Fairwater, in March. This event was also a great
success. On behalf of the Foundation, it is my
pleasure to thank Lady Fairfax for her continuing
interest in the work of the Foundation.

The growth and
development of the
ANZAC Research
Institute depends
entirely on the
support and
generosity of both
private and corporate
donors to the
Foundation. We
therefore thank our
loyal supporters for
their generosity and
urge everyone to keep
the Foundations work
in mind when
opportunities arise to
foster Australian
science and medical
progress.

I am sure you will all join me in wishing the
Director and his staff a productive year at the
ANZAC Research Institute

Professor J A Young
Chair

AO, FAA

Our annual dinner was held on 25 November
2000 at the Sydney Town Hall. The dinner was
attended by about 300 guests and the function
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This has been a landmark year for the
ANZAC Health and Medical Research
Foundation. The most significant event was
the practical completion of the new ANZAC
Research Institute building between August
and November 2000. Under the supervision
of the Building Sub-Committee, the design
and contractor teams completed the
construction on time and within budget.
Currently, as the defect liability period
finishes, most teething problems have been
resolved and the building is operating fully
and effectively along the lines planned. The
building’s attractive external façade and
bright, pleasant interior creates an excellent
working environment, first new
Australian medical research
institute of the 21st Century. Soon
after completion of the building,
the state-of-the-art design was
featured at an specialist
construction industry seminar as a
model of the modular, flexible
functionality regarded as the ideal
scientific research environment for
the 21st century. We aim that
every aspect of the Institute’s
operations will reflect such elite
levels of performance.

After practical completion of the building, the
Institute’s four laboratories and the animal and
other facilities were commissioned. Our major
research groups are establishing their new
laboratories and already within the first year the
Institute’s laboratories will soon be fully
occupied. The major themes of the Institute’s
research laboratories are male reproductive
health including hormone deficiencies and
prostate disease (Andrology), neurogenetics and
neurodegenerative disease (Neurobiology),
effects of ageing on the liver function and
cardiovascular disease (Biogerontology) and
research into the diagnosis and therapy for
respiratory diseases (Respiratory Biology) and
osteoporosis (Bone Biology). These initiatives
promise to make important advances in a wide
range of disorders that are commonly
encountered in ageing such as prostate cancer,
dementia, heart disease, drug side-effects,
frailty, falls and fractures. Such progress requires
both fundamental advances in knowledge in
order to achieve long-term benefits by earlier
diagnosis and new approaches to treatment of
disease, and more immediate practical
developments in current prevention and
treatment of disease.

This year has seen the ANZAC
Research Institute launched onto the
Australian and international medical
research scene in its first year of operations. In
recognition of this, the Institute has been
awarded a NSWHealth Infrastructure Grant. This
scheme recognizes the major medical research
institutes operating in the NSW health system
and provides vital funding for the core
infrastructure of the Institute’s operations. In
addition, this year the National Health and
Medical Research Council formally recognized
the ANZAC Research Institute as an independent
medical research institute. Such recognition
heralds the entry of the ANZAC Research
Institute into the elite of the biomedical research
community in Australia and forms an important
background of support for the Institute to take
its first steps towards its goal of improving health
and medical care for the veteran and general
community through a focus on disorders
associated with ageing.

Now that the Institute building is completed, the
success or failure of the institute depends on
attracting, supporting and retaining top scientists
to spearhead the vital research that brings the
Institute to life. All scientific research and
innovation at the Institute requires specific grants
and contracts. To be able to compete effectively,
the Institute’s scientists need state-of-the-art
equipment and other facilities. The single most
pressing considerations are our unmet needs for
essential specialized scientific equipment, so
scientists can work at the cutting edge of
science, and for scholarships so we can train and
attract the next generation of outstanding
scientists with an interest in the problems of
ageing. Securing top-flight scientists requires the
Institute to obtain state-of-the-art scientific
equipment. These items are expensive to
purchase and to maintain and the Institute’s
innovative research programs need new
equipment and related operational facilities
which will cost $1 million.
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During this year we have had many professional
successes which you can read about as described
by each of our research groups. Among the
highlights have been the Neurobiology group’s
paper published in Nature Genetics, one of the
top journals in the world, in which was described
their exciting discovery of a new gene for a form
of nervous system degeneration. Other
highlights included the invitation to Dr Peter Liu
to present his research as one of only four oral
presentations at the American Endocrine
Society’s headline Clinical Trials Symposium. Dr
Lam Ly’s paper in the Journal of Clinical
Endocrinology and Metabolism, the top clinical
endocrinology journal, was also advertised on
the American Endocrine Society’s website as the
paper of the month.
The Institute was very proud to host the second
Annual ANZAC Research Institute Scientific
Seminar in August 2001. These seminar’s are one
of the Institute’s contributions to public scientific
education by creating a forum to highlight major
new ideas and themes at the cutting edge of
clinical and basic biomedical research,
highlighting areas within the Institute major
focus. The Seminar took the theme of
“Neurodegeneration” and was held on Friday
31st August in the Institute’s Seminar Room. It
was opened by Emeritus Professor J McLeod, a
distinguished University of Sydney neurologist.
The meeting attracted a full house of 60 health
and medical professionals and discussed a range
of important topics in recent advances in
understanding the nature of brain disorders such
as Alzheimer’s disease, Parkinson’s disease and
Creutzfeld-Jakob disease (human equivalent of
“mad-cow” disease) which lead to dementia,
one the biggest health challenges of the present
century. Again through the linkage of the
Institute’s seminar with Concord Hospital’s
Clinical Week, the Seminar involved Professor
Kurt Fischbeck of Boston as well as interstate
and local experts.
During the year, the Foundation was able to
assist Central Sydney Area Health Service
(CSAHS) Laboratory Services by hosting Concord
Hospital ‘s routine haematology and biochemistry
laboratories (the General Diagnostic Unit) for 9
months while their own laboratories were being
upgraded. This further strengthened the

relationship between the ANZAC Research
Institute and Concord Hospital. The strong
relationships of the Institute with the CSAHS, as
well as the University of Sydney continue to
remain strong and secure through the
commitment of Dr Diana Horvath, CEO of the
CSAHS and of Professor John Young, the ProVice-Chancellor (Heath Sciences) and Stephen
Leeder, Dean of the Faculty of Medicine, to our
shared goals. Their support will be decisive for
the success of the ANZAC Research Institute over
the coming decades.
Another important event this year in the
Institute’s development was the unveiling of the
Institute’s statue. The statue was sculpted by Dr
Maryann Nichols, Head of the Concord Hospital
Hematology Department and a long-standing
supporter of the Foundation. It embodies the
Foundation’s logo, the famous George Silk 1943
photograph “Blind Soldier (Papuan native leading
blinded Australian infantryman away from Buna
front)”. The statute, mounted on a sand-stone
plinth and situated prominently in front of the
building, was unveiled at a ceremony hosted by
Mr. Rusty Priest, Deputy Chairman of our Council
and President of the NSW Branch of the RSL in
July 2001. The ceremony offered our formal
thanks to the sculptor for her outstanding efforts
to memorialize our logo as well as to the RSL
Clubs and Sub-branches that contributed
generously towards the work. Once again it is a
pleasure to record thanks to all involved for
creating this lasting memorial to the great
ANZAC tradition from which the Institute draws
its name and inspiration and aims to form a
practical embodiment for the future.
The opportunities for medical research to
improve health and medical care have never
been brighter, more exciting or more rewarding;
nor however have they ever been more
expensive. As the Human Genome Project has
been completed and we have in our hands the
sequences of virtually all of human genes, the
big challenge being to work out the functions of
these genes. This is the dawn of the era of
functional genomics, the quest to understand
gene function and how they interacts with our
environment. This will surely divulge the secrets
of many hitherto poorly understood aspects of
how the body functions and how it malfunctions
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leading to disease, disability and death. Most
common and serious diseases have both genetic
and environmental components. It is the nature
of these effects and their interactions which we
now seek to unravel. Such research promises
unparalleled opportunity to prevent and reverse
suffering by developing new ways to prevent,
diagnose and treat the killing and disabiling
disease that we experience as we grow older.
This is where the ANZAC Research Institute will
finds its place, to lead in the fight for new
knowledge, to learn more about how the body
develops and functions and how these processes
can malfunction and be rectified.
The daily life of a research institute depends on
vital internal scientific functions such as research
meetings, journal clubs and seminars which are
critical to providing the right working
environment to optimize the scientific quality,
incisiveness and competitiveness of the Institute’s
scientific work. In this vein it is important to
recognize the extra efforts of the Institute’s
scientists who animate these essential function
of the Institute. Important thanks for their
organizing efforts go to Dr Dianne Hughes
(research meetings), Dr Charles Allan (Journal
Club), Dr Marina Kennerson (Seminars), Jenny
Dawkins (Occupational Health and Safety) and
Jenny Spaliviero (Library).
It is once again a pleasure to thank Professor
John Young AO, Chairman of the Council, for his
ongoing support in advancing the Institute’s
mission. Special thanks again go to Professor
Michael Field, Chairman of ANZAC Research
Committee, whose unhesitating support for the
Foundation, the Institute and myself are much
appreciated. The day to day operations of the
Foundation and Institute rely on the
administrative team led by the new General
Manager, Christine Harrison, together with Toni
Watson and Rebecca Britt, who form a reliable
and resourceful team looking after all our
operations. In addition, the Institute owes thanks
to Mamdouh Khalil, the Manager of the
Molecular Physiology Unit, who has provided
extraordinary service in not only establishing and
operating the animal facility but also helping
resolve many teething problems with the
building’s mechanical services. Thanks are also
due to the members of the Council whose
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support of the Foundation’s goals and work is
much appreciated. In particular the goodwill and
support from Dr Diana Horvath, CEO of the
CSAHS and from Matthew Daly and Dr Margaret
Sanger of Concord Hospital are vital to the
Institute’s early development and effective
operations. Finally, I extend thanks to the many
friends of the ANZAC Health & Medical Research
Foundation whose continuing support in many
different forms will help determine just how
great our achievements can be.

Research Committee Report
Research Committee Report

Role of the Committee
The past year has seen the Research Committee
re-evaluate its role, now that the ANZAC
Research Institute is fully operational under the
direction of the Professor Handelsman.
While the original articles of Constitution give to the
Research Committee a key role in proposing,
approving and evaluating research undertaken by
the Foundation, this function is no longer
appropriate given that the Foundation’s main
research activities are now carried out within the
Institute by qualified researchers under a full-time
Director. An amendment of the Constitution is being
prepared to reflect these changed circumstances.
In the mean time, Council has given approval for
the establishment of an ad hoc Scientific Advisory
Committee, including distinguished scientists
external to the Institute, to provide advice to the
Director on an informal basis. After extensive
consultation with other major research institutes
around the country, this arrangement was the
one most favoured to provide support to directors
without constraining their initiative or leadership.
With Council’s approval, appropriate steps to
create a suitable advisory group are underway.

Concord Hospital Volunteers
Postgraduate Scholarship
The Research Committee met late in 2000 to
consider applications received for the inaugural
Volunteers Postgraduate Scholarship, made
available by the generosity of the Concord
Hospital Volunteers for a student to be enrolled
for a full-time PhD at the University of Sydney
under the supervision of a staff member working
in the ANZAC
Research Institute.
From a number of
high quality
applicants, the award
was made to Ms
Miriam Haywood,
who is working on the
hormonal regulation
of spermatogenesis
under the supervision
of Dr Charles Allen
and Professor David
Handelsman.
The Committee congratulates Ms Haywood and
expresses gratitude to the Volunteers for making
this project a goal of their fundraising efforts on
behalf of the Hospital. It is hoped that this
scheme can continue and expand in future years.

Appreciation
I would like to thank the administrative staff of
the Institute, particularly Ms Rebecca Britt, for
the excellent support which has been provided to
the Committee over the past year.

Michael Field MD BS BSc (Hons) FRACP
Chair
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NEUROBIOLOGY LABORATORY
The Neurobiology Laboratory, headed by A/Prof
Garth Nicholson, is an internationally prominent
research group in the field of neurogenetics. The
group comprises a clinical department in the
Hospital where patients and their families are
investigated and blood samples are obtained to
allow the molecular genetic research to be
conducted in the ANZAC Research Institute’s
Neurobiology Laboratory. The group’s
neurogenetic research focuses on the search for
genes for various neurodegenerative disease,
particularly ones which destroy nerves and
muscle causing various forms of muscular
dystrophy and motor neuron diseases. These
disease processes are very similar to, and have
major implications for understanding, the causes
and progression of the well known brain
neurodegenerative diseases such as Alzheimer’s
disease, Parkinson’s disease and CJD (the human
variant of BSE or “mad cow” disease).

Identifying the Gene For Hereditary
Sensory Neuropathy Type 1
GA NICHOLSON, ML KENNERSON, DJ HULME, JL
DAWKINS, SB BRAHMBHATT

Hereditary sensory neuropathy type 1 (HSN1) is a
disease of the peripheral nerve and is the most
common genetic cause of loss of pain sensation
in hands and feet. Affected individuals suffer
painless injuries and shooting pains. The loss of
pain sensation leads to more injuries, chronic
ulcers, osteomyelitis and limb amputation. A
major aim of the laboratory’s research has been
to identify the gene mutation causing HSN1.
This would lead to the development of an
accurate diagnostic test and possibly lead to the
development of a specific treatment. Since
mapping the gene locus to chromosome 9 in
1996, the laboratory has constructed physical
and transcript maps of the region. Haplotype
analysis further refined map the interval to
1.5cM with the identification of an ancestral
recombination event in an HSN1 family of
English origin. Substantial progress was achieved
this year with the identification of the gene
mutation for HSN1. The mutant gene is in
subunit 1 of the serine palmitolytransferase (SPT)
enzyme. This work was published in Nature

Genetics. Serine palmitoyltransferase is an
enzyme that catalyses the first step of
biosynthesis of sphingolipids including ceramide.
It consists of two subunits. SPTLC1 and SPTLC2
(also referred to as LCB1 and LCB2 respectively)
both of which are required for enzyme activity.
Three different mutations have been reported in
the enzyme that presumably result in
conformational changes in subunit 1 of SPT.
These findings have allowed the development of
new diagnostic tests for this crippling disorder.
How these mutations cause the disease remains
an important issue subject to further research.
Finding new treatments will depend on
understanding clearly the functions of the
defective gene. Work to identify the biological
mechanism of this mutation is proceeding
through a collaboration with Dr Charles Allan at
the Institute’s Molecular Physiology Unit to
construct a mouse model for HSN1. This would
allow a study of the enzyme pathways associated
with SPT and its relationship to the pathogenesis
of HSN1. This project is funded by the National
Health and Medical Research Council of
Australia.

Localising the Gene for Dominant
Intermediate Charcot-Marie-Tooth
(DI-CMT)
GA NICHOLSON, ML KENNERSON, D ZHU

Charcot-Marie-Tooth (CMT) neuropathy is one of
the most common groups of human hereditary
disorders. The CMT syndrome is a disorder of
peripheral nerve affecting both motor and
sensory neurons so that both movement and
sensation are affected. Two major clinical types
have been defined according to whether they are
primarily disorders of Schwann cells with nerve
conduction slowing (CMT I) or disorders of distal
portions of neurones, ‘axonal neuropathies’
(CMT II). Peripheral nerve conduction slowing is
seen in CMT type I (typically 20 m/sec) whereas
for CMT II the median nerve conduction velocity
is usually greater than 38 m/sec. The term
‘intermediate conduction velocity’ has been used
to describe families with nerve conduction
velocities in different affected individuals in both
the CMT type I and type II ranges. For this study
we have used the value of 45 m/sec to define
the cut off between type I and II. We have
ANZAC Health and Medical Research Foundation
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identified a family whose nerve conduction
velocities in different affected individuals range
from 24-54 m/sec. Segregation of the disease is
consistent with autosomal dominant inheritance
and we have called this form of CMT, Dominant
Intermediate Charcot-Marie-Tooth neuropathy
(DI-CMT). To map the gene for DI-CMT 39
members of the family were recruited including 7
affected females and 5 affected males for
genetic linkage studies. A 10-cM genomewide
screen using 383 microsatellite was undertaken
at the Australian Genome Research Faciltiy
(AGRF). We have linked the gene for DI-CMT to
a 16.8-cM interval on chromosome 19 (19p12p13.2). Research is now aimed at narrowing the
chromosomal region to find the gene and
mutation abnormality causing this disease. The
16.8-cM interval corresponds to a physical
distance of approximately 12 megabases of DNA
and the region is estimated to contain over 200
genes. Through international collaboration with
Dr V. Timmerman (University of Antwerp,
Belgium) access to other families linked to this
locus have been identified and will be helpful in
refining the region. Currently, 4 strong known
candidate genes are being screened for a
pathogenic role in DI-CMT. This project is
funded by the National Health and Medical
Research Council (NH&MRC).

Gene Mutation Screening in
Parkinson’s Disease
GA NICHOLSON

Parkinson’s disease (PD) is an adult onset
degenerative disease that affects the brain
pathways concerned with the control of
movement. Characteristically it leads to rigidity
and tremor. Approximately 10% of affected
individuals have a family history of the disease.
Two genes have been reported with mutations
that cause PD, alpha synuclein and parkin.
Detecting mutations in these and other genes
will eventually allow more accurate diagnosis and
treatment of different forms of Parkinson’s
disease. In particular, patients with mutations
can be identified facilitating pathological studies
in brain bank material. The laboratory has
developed sequencing techniques suitable for the
detection of Parkinson’s disease mutations. An
alpha synuclein mutation (Ala53Thr, an ancestral
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Greek mutation) was identified in one familial
Parkinson’s family referred to the laboratory. This
family has been the subject of a publication
describing the clinical and pathological features.
We have also found evidence that all reported
PD families (except for a unique German
mutation), arise from a common founder who
lived before 1700, possibly in classical Greek
times. This work required the screening of 4
exons in 100 patients. The parkin gene
screening using present techniques is even more
difficult as this gene contains twelve exons.
After screening 100 patients for parkin point
mutations only 6 polymorphisms (normal
variations) were identified in the gene. Currently
work is continuing to develop rapid screening
methods for point mutations in PD candidate
genes using denaturing high performance liquid
chromatography (DHPLC). In addition, methods
are being developed to detect the more common
duplication and deletion mutations observed in
the parkin gene using real time PCR.

Andrology
Andrology

TOWARDS IMPROVED AND NOVEL
APPLICATIONS FOR ANDROGEN
THERAPY:
OPTIMISING ANDROGEN
REPLACEMENT THERAPY
The testes have two functions, to produce sperm
in order to be able to fertilise eggs, and to
produce testosterone, the major male hormone.
Inability to produce sperm leads to male infertility,
the major reason why couples now seek IVF
treatment. A deficiency of testosterone (known
as androgen deficiency), has widespread effects
on the body since virtually every cell has receptors
that recognize, register and react to testosterone
arriving via the bloodstream. Testosterone has a
remarkably wide range of important effects
throughout the body. An adequate androgen
supply is essential to maintain energy, mood,
mental and sexual functioning as well as healthy
bones, muscles and blood and many other more
subtle health effects. Recent research is also
highlighting the role of testosterone in the longterm origins of major diseases like cardiovascular
and prostate disease and providing clues as to
how this can be exploited to develop newer
preventions and treatments.
Androgen deficiency is the most frequent
hormone deficiency state in men. Such hormone
deficiency impairs quality of life whereas restoring
male hormone levels is one of the best examples
of achieving long-term health benefits through
preventative treatment. Every cell of the body
depends on androgens to maintain optimal
function. Where there is a deficiency state,
androgen replacement therapy needs to be lifelong and is highly effective at restoring good
health and feeling of well-being if used
consistently. Although testosterone has been
available for over sixty years since its first
identification as the major male sex hormone,
standard treatments for men with androgen
deficiency due to testicular and pituitary disorders
all have shortcomings. Improved, more convenient
and user-friendly forms of hormone delivery need
to be developed to obtain better adherence to
treatment over the long term in order to get best
results from treatment. Because the structure of
steroid is well understood, chemical modifications
can produce a wide variety of chemically modified

new molecules with a range of desirable features.
In addition, improved delivery systems for steroids
continue to be the forerunner for development
involving many other drugs. Beyond their
standard use for treatment of hormone deficiency
states, androgens have increasingly wide potential
for clinical applications in this treatment of
hormone deficiency states associated with chronic
medical diseases, in ageing men and for hormonal
male contraception.

Testosterone Pellet Implants:
Mechanism and Prevention of Extrusions
S KELLEHER, S WISHART, L TURNER, A CONWAY, DJ
HANDELSMAN

The Department of Andrology has revived the
use of testosterone pellet implants in Australia.
Studies in the Department have identified these
simple implants as the most effective and
convenient form of treatment available for men
who need long-term male hormone replacement.
World-wide, standard treatment for androgen
deficiency involves uncomfortable intramuscular
injections every 2 weeks. Patients find this far
from ideal and much prefer more convenient,
user-friendly
alternatives. But the
few alternatives all
have drawbacks. Pills
need to be taken at
least twice daily, may
upset the stomach
and are inconsistent in
their effectiveness.
Skin patches have
recently become
available in Australia
but are irritating to
the skin. Skin creams
and gels are not yet
available in Australia.
Biodegradable
testosterone implants are made from
testosterone formed into small cylindrical pellets,
the size of matchsticks. They are placed under
the skin to dissolve gradually over a number of
months. This is very effective and popular
treatment because it allow patients the
convenience of maximum freedom from regular
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medical visits. The only problem with this
treatment is that after ~10% of procedures, one
or more pellets works its way out through the
skin (extrusion). Over recent years the
Department has conducted a systematic series of
randomized controlled clinical trials aiming to
understand why these extrusions occur and how
to eliminate them. So far, important risk factors
predicting extrusion have been identified.
Studies have also been conducted to prevent
extrusions and several papers have now been
published reporting careful studies on variations
in implantation techniques, different
implantation sites and using antibiotics at the
time of implantation. These studies have
carefully evaluated these various alternatives by
the most clinical trials. Although these ongoing
studies have not yet solved the problem of
extrusions, these studies have identified new and
improved methods to enhance this form of
treatment this widening the choice of options for
patients using this effective form of androgen
replacement therapy.

Pharmacogenetics of Androgen Action
B YU (DEPT OF MOLECULAR GENETICS, RPAH), B JIN, DJ
HANDELSMAN

Recent advances in understanding the molecular
mechanism of action of androgens via the
androgen receptor have allowed analysis for the
first time of the possible markers of tissue
androgen sensitivity. Genetic variations in the
sequence of a gene like the androgen receptor
may in certain instances connote variations in the
gene’s function. Such polymorphisms are often
random and biologically meaningless variations
such as for hair or skin colour but may also cause
biological effects. One such genetic
polymorphism in the androgen receptor, the
triplet repeat causing a polyglutamine region of
variable length in exon 1, has subtle biological
effects. Several lines of evidence have suggested
that shorter triplet repeat lengths are associated
with greater tissue androgen sensitivity and
longer triplet lengths with less sensitivity to
androgen effects. Previous studies have shown
that there are striking and so-far unexplained
between and within-population differences in
susceptibility to certain androgen effects. An
important implication of this hypothesis is that
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such differences may be related to a persons
individual susceptibility to late-life hormonedependent disease such as prostate and
cardiovascular disease.
This project has examined whether this genetic
polymorphism was associated with either
variations in the most hormonally sensitive,
central region of the prostate, or the
susceptibility of healthy young men to undergo
androgen-induced azoospermia. Despite the
attractive hypothesis, neither of these two
biological effects of androgens were consistently
related to androgen receptor triplet repeat
polymorphism length in the people studied.
Both studies were published in the Journal of
Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism and are
among the first studies to examine the
population pharmacogenetics of androgen
action. Further studies utilizing a wider range of
markers for androgen action are underway.

New Applications of Androgens in
Medicine
Can Pharmacological Androgen Therapy
Improve Wound Healing and Rehabilitation
After Major Burns?
P MAITZ, R JOHNSON, E FUENTES, S KELLEHER, PY LIU,
L TURNER, AJ CONWAY, DJ HANDELSMAN

Severe burns injury causes prolonged catabolic
state mediated by major derangements in
hormonal profiles and requires prolonged
rehabilitation. During their typically long stays in
intensive care units, patients experience a major
loss of body weight and muscle mass that is
associated with delayed wound healing, impaired
immune function and prolonged recovery time,
all of which contribute to the high mortality and
morbidity. Following the acute inflammatory
response in the immediate days after the burn,
there is a phase of accelerated and excessive
protein loss. This severe catabolic state continues
for weeks depending on the severity of the
burns. The loss of muscle mass and strength
hinders rehabilitation and limits the speed and
quality of recuperation. Preliminary studies have
suggested that various anabolic hormones, such
as growth hormone or androgens, could
enhance wound healing, shorten recovery time
and improve survival from critical illnesses
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including burns. On the other hand, very high
doses of growth hormone can also be harmful.
Very few well controlled studies have been
conducted to evaluate anabolic treatments to
improve recovery from burns injury. As a result,
potentially effective and affordable treatments
are not an accepted standard treatment because
they have not been properly evaluated. The
Department of Andrology is collaborating with
Concord Hospital’s Burns Unit, the State’s leading
centre, to systematically evaluate a novel
approach to such adjuvant androgen treatment
for burns injury. This has the potential to
enhance standard treatment for burns injury
within this country and internationally.

Can Androgen Replacement Therapy
Improve Rehabilitation for Men with
Chronic Pain With Opiate-Induced
Androgen Deficiency?
L TURNER, AJ CONWAY, S KELLEHER, PY LIU, DJ
HANDELSMAN

Patients with chronic non-malignant pain provide
a major challenge to maintain both adequate
pain relief and optimal functional capacity
especially among those requiring long-term
opioid administration. At worst there can be a
downward spiral of disability involving physical
impairment, vocational failing, psychosocial
problems and health-care dependency. While
sophisticated opioid delivery can provide effective
pain relief, this can be complicated by opiateinduced androgen deficiency. This arises because
opioids inhibit the hypothalamus in its role to
maintain pituitary and testicular functions
including testosterone production. The lowered
testosterone levels produced by opiate-induced
androgen deficiency can decrease energy levels
and stamina, and reduce muscle mass and
strength. In combination with chronic pain,
these effects may be depressed mood, impaired
activity and reduced quality of life so that
rehabilitation remains suboptimal. Yet, the
potential benefits of androgen replacement
therapy as an adjunct to opioid treatment for
chronic pain have not yet been evaluated.
Potential benefits would be improved mood and
behaviour leading to better rehabilitational and
quality of life outcomes. The Department of
Andrology is collaborating with the Royal North

Shore Hospital’s Pain Clinic, the State’s largest
pain clinic and an NHMRC Centre of Clinical
Excellence , to evaluate this potential adjuvant
treatment for men with chronic pain. This study
also has the potential to enhance standard
treatment for the most severe and intractable
forms of chronic pain requiring opiate treatment.

Randomised, Placebo-Controlled
Clinical Trial of Testosterone and
Nandrolone in Steroid-Dependent Men
BC CRAWFORD (DEPT OF ENDOCRINOLOGY, RPAH), PY
LIU, D J HANDELSMAN

Men who have chronic diseases such as chronic
pulmonary disease, rheumatoid arthritis, or organ
transplantation require regular glucocorticoid
treatment at supra-physiological doses for its
anti-inflammatory and immunosuppressive
effects. Such patients are subject to adverse
steroid-induced effects including loss of bone
and muscle mass with the consequential
functional effects including muscular weakness,
frailty and bone fractures. Various non-hormonal
adjuvant treatments have been proposed to
ameliorate glucocorticoid-induced bone loss, but
these are neither very effective nor do they
improve muscular function. Dr Crawford’s study
has tested two major androgens which differ in
their ability to form bioactive steroid metabolites
(testosterone) or not. These were compared with
placebo injections to evaluate most accurately
the treatment effects. Both androgens improved
muscle strength whereas only testosterone
improved bone density and quality of life
although it also exhibited greater effects on
prostate size. These findings define clearly for
the first time the potential risks and benefits of
androgen action in ameliorating the side-effects
of effective glucocorticoid treatment for severe,
chronic medical diseases.

Designer Androgens for Clinical Use
D J HANDELSMAN

Optimal clinical applications of androgen therapy
require discovery of (a) more effective and
convenient methods to deliver hormones
conveniently for long-term treatment and (b)
more tissue-specific effects of modified
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androgens. A major limitation of testosterone as
a therapeutic agent is the relatively large amount
(milligrams) that has to be delivered daily. For
example, 3-6 months treatment needs ~1 gm to
be delivered which is difficult for any delivery
system. The best sustained delivery systems can
deliver smaller daily amounts (micrograms) of
steroids very effectively but do not work well to
deliver such large daily doses. To harness the
best delivery systems to androgen therapy it
would be necessary to develop new, safe forms
of more potent, synthetic androgens. These
could be delivered as injectable or implantable
depots lasting for months after each
administration.
In addition, novel synthetic “designer”
androgens can be created with structural
modifications that exploit the body’s unique
mechanisms to modulate androgen action in
different tissues. Specific steroidogenic enzymes
are known to amplify (5α reductase) and
diversify (aromatase) androgen action. As these
enzymes are distributed differently between
tissues, a rational mechanism to create designer
androgens with tissues-specific actions is now
available.
The Department of Andrology is exploring a
range of strategies to identify novel synthetic
androgens. This has involved re-examining older
leads as well as new leads for identification of
newer more effective, safe and selective synthetic
androgens. These would have very wide
application in androgen replacement therapy, for
novel forms of prevention and adjuvant
treatments of medical disorders with far wider
application than even the reproductive system.

The Role of Androgens in Origins,
Prevention and Treatment of
Cardiovascular Disease
A DEATH (DEPT OF ENDOCRINOLOGY, RPAH), W JESSUP
(HEART RESEARCH INSTITUTE), D CELERMAJER, M
SADER, M NG (DEPT OF CARDIOLOGY, ROYAL PRINCE
ALFRED HOSPITAL), D J HANDELSMAN

It has long been known that, at all ages,
cardiovascular disease is more frequent and
severe among men than women of the same
age. It is clear that, in both men and women,
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cardiovascular disease increases steeply with age
from midlife onwards. This rate of increase is
similar in men and women except that the onset
and severity is greater in men at earlier ages.
The reasons for these differences between men
and women in the rates and severity of
cardiovascular disease are not clear. In theory
such differences in the rate of age-related
acceleration of cardiovascular disease could be in
genetic, hormonal or lifestyle differences or
combinations of these factors. It has long been
believed that these differences might be due to
protective effects of estrogens in women before
the menopause but the best available evidence
does not support this explanation, despite its
popularity. In fact natural menopause in women
does not accelerate the rate of diagnosis of
cardiovascular disease and the first prospective
studies of secondary prevention have shown that
estrogen replacement does not benefit, and may
even harm, menopausal women with heart
disease. Further, androgen deficiency is another
risk factor for cardiovascular disease in men. On
this background, a series of experimental and
clinical studies are ongoing aimed to identifying
novel approaches to identify at what stage and
how androgens may initiate and promote
cardiovascular disease.
A series of studies, leading the field
internationally, have employed non-invasive
techniques developed by Professor Celermajer to
understand how male and female hormones
affect blood vessels. A series of papers in
leading cardiology journals have shown that
androgen deprivation, or estrogen
administration, improve the responses of blood
vessel. Yet, very high doses of androgens has no
further effect than normal male levels. In the
laboratory, androgens increase “stickiness” of
lipid-carrying cells in the bloodstream to blood
vessel walls, which may be the mechanism how
androgens promote the earliest stages of
development of atheroma, the fatty plaques that
form the basis of the major heart and blood
vessel diseases of this community. Further
studies are underway to identify how this new
knowledge can be turned into novel forms of
prevention and treatment to stem the
progression of heart disease and stroke, the
major killing diseases of older men and women
in our community.
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TOWARDS NOVEL PREVENTION
AND TREATMENT FOR PROSTATE
DISEASE:
THE ORIGINS AND EVOLUTION OF
PROSTATE DISEASE
The prostate gland is about the size of a walnut
and surrounds the neck of the bladder and
urethra, the tube from which urine is passed out
of the body. The prostate is formed before birth
but reaches its full development during puberty.
From midlife, however, the prostate undergoes
an unique growth phase which continues
intermittently in men as they grow older. This
enlargement of the prostate can compress and
block the urethra causing difficulties with
urination especially at night. Although many
men do not like to discuss prostate symptoms,
these problems are very common and affect not
only the lives of the men themselves, but also
their families and carers.
The frequency of prostate disease, its heavy
burden on older men, their families and the
community, makes this a major public health
issue. Unfortunately too little is known about
the causes and the evolution of prostate disease
for effective prevention or for improved forms of
detection and treatment to be developed.
Clinical and experimental research is underway to
identify more about the sequence of events that
leads to prostate disease. Through this approach
we aim to identify new ways to prevent and to
halt, or even reverse, the progression of prostate
disease over the silent decades when prostate
disease is inexorably evolving but still before it
comes to the surface to cause clinical symptoms.
Prostate cancer is the most common cancer and
second only to lung cancer as a cause of cancer
deaths in Australian men. Prostate cancer in its
early stages is quite insidious in that it usually
produces no symptoms for many years while it
grows silently. Its rate of growth is so slow that
among older men many more men die with
prostate cancer rather than from it. Nevertheless
some prostate cancers spread to the pelvis and
the rest of the body, especially bones, causing
great pain and debility, that eventually kills many
men. Although prostate cancer is very common
and slowly progressive but relentless, only a

minority of prostate cancers are life-threatening
but what determines which will be fatal and
which will stay contained is not known. This
distinction is one of the major topics for practical
prevention and treatment of prostate cancer.
Benign prostatic hyperplasia, the other major
prostate disease, is even more common so that
virtually every man who lives out his full life
expectancy can expect to develop prostate
disease with 50% having troublesome symptoms
and 25% needing surgery. Although suffered
directly by older men, the effects of prostate
disease touch nearly everyone in the community
through its effects on families and carers. As
greater proportions of men live
to advanced age, the
community burden of costs and
suffering from prostate disease
will grow increasingly
problematic. This highlights the
need to develop improved
prevention and treatment for
prostate disorders through
better research. A striking
features of prostate disease is
that it appears eminently
preventable and treatable
subject to understanding more
about its nature. Prostate
diseases each have strong
hormonal background, a very
long incubation period during
which characteristic precursor stages are present.
Each of these features, the hormonal basis, long
latency and identifiable precursor stages, are key
features of medical disorders that identify
preventable disease. Further research needs to
examine carefully the long latency period during
middle life before prostate disease becomes
clinically apparent. In this vein, our recent
research has identified significant environmental
factors in the origins of prostate disease.

Epidemiology Of Prostate Growth in
Middle Aged Australian Men
T ZHUANG, DJ HANDELSMAN

Tian Zhuang, a PhD student, has been
undertaking clinical research studies aiming to
identify factors influencing prostate size and
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growth during mid-life in the years before men
know they have prostate disease. One major
defect of existing knowledge about the causes of
prostate disease is that they have been based
exclusively on men who have only been studied
after they have needed medical treatment for
prostate disease. The impact of ill-health colours
the recollection and distorts the memories of
patients (recall bias), which has created much
confusion in the past. This research project is
taking a novel approach to identifying causes of
prostate disease in a manner free of recall bias.
That is to measure prostate size and growth very
accurately in men across a wide range of ages
before prostate disease become clinically evident.
By coupling this with a variety of
complementary techniques to
identify the environmental factors
in lifestyle, it is will to identify the
important factors that influence the
rate and extent of late-life prostate
growth. This new approach, based
on coupling an objective
measurement of prostate size with
an evaluation of potential risk
factors operating before clinical
diagnosis, promises to revolutionize
the epidemiological understanding
of the origins of prostate disease.
A closely related study is examining
twins to highlight the genetic and
environmental factors and their
interaction in determining mid-life
prostate growth. Based on the
large NHMRC Australian Twin Registry, identical
and non-identical twins are being studied in
order to examine their prostate growth and its
determinants. This study will help identify new
ways to potentially retard or even reverse
prostate growth and the development of cancer.

Ethnicity and Migration Determine
Prostate Growth in Mid-Life
B JIN, D J HANDELSMAN

An important clue to the origins of prostate
disease is the observation that there are major
variations in the rates of prostate disease between
countries. For example, death rates from invasive
prostate cancer varies up to 20-fold between
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African-American men compared with Chinese
and Japanese men living in Asia. Such dramatic
population differences could be due to differences
in genes or the environment operating through
hormonal, nutrition or other factors. One
additional clue has been that men migrating from
a country with low rates of fatal prostate cancer
to a country with higher rates keep their lower
risks if they migrate at an early age. This clue
reinforces the idea that an early environmental
factor with long-range effects is important in the
development of fatal prostate cancers but such
decades long effects are difficult to study.
Bo Jin has been conducting research towards his
PhD on trying to unravel these clues. The
additional background to his studies is that a
major epidemiological determinant of prostate
disease is exposure to androgens in early
manhood. The dramatic increase in prostate
disease with age does not occur among men who
lack full androgen exposure in early life. The
long-range mechanism and the intervening steps
by which early-life androgen exposure
predetermines the developed of prostate diseases
decades later remains unclear. In a major study,
he has examined human prostate size and some
of its key determinants during the intervening
years in mid-life when prostate disease is evolving
but has not yet reached the clinical surface. By
comparing the prostate in native-born men
residing in China with Australian-born nonChinese and Chinese migrants to Australia, he
found that the prostate of Chinese residents was
smaller than Australian non-Chinese but that the
prostate of Chinese migrants to Australia grew to
the same size as non-Chinese within only a few
years of migration. This was particularly evident
for the central zone where the most common
prostate disease originates. In addition among
the various reproductive hormones thought to be
involved in prostate growth, he worked out
which of the hormones also changed and which
did not. His important findings highlight new
clues to potentially modifiable, environmental
factors influencing prostate growth. Most
importantly for further research this factor
operates over a relatively short time period
compared with the evolution of fatal prostate
cancers creating new opportunities for incisive
research into causes and prevention of the
progression of prostate diseases.
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How Hormones Determine Human
Prostate Growth in Midlife
B JIN, D J HANDELSMAN

This is the first comprehensive study of the
prostate in men with severe liver disease before
and after liver transplantation. It has long been
known that prostate disease evolves very slowly
over decades and that androgen exposure in
early life is a key determinant of prostate
diseases later in life. A crucial factor in this is
whether the prostate remains hormonally
sensitive throughout life and its development of
disease or whether hormonal sensitivity changes
once prostate diseases take hold. These
questions are difficult to answer directly because
of the ethical constraints on experimental
research involving healthy people. As a result it is
necessary to find clever, roundabout ways in
which to study this important question. In this
study, Jin has studied men with a disease known
to severely reduce the body’s own testosterone
production as well as after the disease state had
been corrected by organ transplantation. Jin
showed that the healthy prostate retains its
hormonal sensitivity during midlife until visible
prostate disease develops when such sensitivity is
reduced or lost. This findings suggests that
hormonal prevention of prostate diseases needs
to commence quite early in the process for it to
be fully effective.
In a related study, Jin examined the prostate of
men who are androgen deficient and receiving
androgen replacement therapy. It has been
known previously that the prostate shrinks in
severely androgen deficient men. This study
showed unexpectedly that carefully tailored
androgen replacement therapy such as provided
by treatment in the Department of Andrology
maintains adequate androgen restoration to the
body but that prostate size is less than fully
restored. This understimulation of the prostate
may be one reason why men on androgen
replacement therapy do not appear to develop
prostate diseases even thought they are
medically scrutinised more carefully than the rest
of the ageing male population.
In a further study, the first of its type ever, Jin
examined the prostates of men with normal
reproductive function but who self-administer

extreme dosages of androgens (anabolic steroid
abusers) compared with healthy, age-matched
men not using any drugs. This study showed
clearly that, despite massive overdoses of
androgens for prolonged periods, the prostate
did not show any signs of disease or overgrowth.
This important new information reinforces the
knowledge that the nature of the hormonal
effect in promoting prostate disease occurs very
early in life and that, while the prostate remains
sensitive to hormone later in midlife, its
susceptibility to disease may have been
determined much earlier.
An important new understanding arising from
Jin’s studies is that, although restoration of
testosterone to normal levels can cause prostate
enlargement, this is not necessarily harmful.
Furthermore, it may be possible to devise forms
of androgen treatment which produce valuable
benfits in other areas (brain, muscle, bone)
without necessarily adverse effects on the
prostate. Further ongoing research on this area
including the development of selective “designer”
androgens to target certain tissues selectively will
be needed to realise this potential benefit.

Mechanism of neonatal imprinting in
the prostate
J SINGH, D J HANDELSMAN

Androgen exposure in early life is one of the
major known risk factors for prostate cancer but
little is known of how androgen exposure early
in life determines late-life prostate cancer. One
suggestion has been that hormonal influences
may be very important in very early life, around
the time of birth or even before birth. This
project aimed to investigate the experimental
effects of exposure to sex-steroids (androgens
and estrogens) in the neonatal period on the
structure and function of mature prostate. This
was based on the hypothesis that early life
exposure to sex-steroids modifies the
susceptibility of the mature prostate gland to
late-life prostate cancer. If this was correct, then
exposure early in life may play a
disproportionately great role in susceptibility to
prostate diseases later in life. Because this
effects acts over very long periods, there would
be the opportunity to halt the progression of
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prostate diseases if more were known about the
underlying mechanisms. This project established
that estrogen exposure in the newborn period,
acting through the estrogen receptor, exert both
direct i.e. acting on the prostate, as well as
indirect i.e. via inhibition of pituitary
gonadotropin secretion, effects upon the mature
prostate structure and hormonal sensitivity in
normal mice. The structural effects of neonatal
estrogen exposure were shown to change the
composition and relative proportions of the cells
in the different tissues within the prostate.
Evidence was also found that the synthetic
estrogen, DES, may act through different
mechanisms than estradiol, the body’s natural
estrogen. This provides some clues as to where
to look further for ways to modify long term
effects of early life hormone exposures. A
further study also showed that not only exposure
to estrogens, arising from the mother’s body and
placenta, but also androgens, arising from the
male’s own body soon after birth, have
permanent effects on the structure and
hormonal sensitivity of the mature prostate.
Using a congenitally androgen-deficient
hypogonadal (hpg) mouse model, this study
demonstrated that androgens had long-term
effects on the morphology and function of the
mature prostate and this imprinting occurs via
the androgen receptor. On the other hand,
contrary to some expectations, neonatal
interaction of androgens with estrogens did not
exert any synergistic or supra-additive effects on
the prostate. Through these experiments we
have created and validated a novel in-vivo animal
model to study the neonatal hormonal
imprinting effects on the prostate.

Characterization of androgenindependent genes in the prostate
J SINGH, Q DONG (DEPT OF ENDOCRINOLOGY, RPAH), D
J HANDELSMAN

This project aims to identify and characterize
prostatic genes that are androgen-independent as
a basis for understanding the development of
androgen-independent prostate cancer. In men
with advanced and incurable prostate cancer,
androgen ablation therapy (castration) results in a
temporary halt to the progression of prostate
cancer. Eventually however this pause, which may
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last for a few years, is followed by a relapse and
progression of prostate cancer to an androgenindependent state in which the prostate cancer
escapes from hormonal control and grows
relentlessly till the patient’s death. The genetic
changes underlying the development of
androgen-independence in advanced prostate
cancer remains unclear. In order to identify these
androgen-independent genes, we have
established a new experimental approach in order
to identify the genes that might be involved.
Using a novel approach we are comparing the
genes active in the prostate of mice under
differing hormonal conditions which replicate the
hormonal environment of the prostate cancer
cells before and after the development of
androgen-independence. By comparing the
products of gene activity in mice under differing
circumstances, Dr Singh has now identified two
genes, not previously known, involved in this
transition where prostate cancer escapes controls
to kill. Work is ongoing to identify more about
these genes and their functions to know whether
they can be used as new diagnostic tests for
prostate cancer or targets for new treatments for
prostate cancer.

TOWARDS HEALTHY AGEING:
THE POSSIBLE THERAPEUTIC ROLE
OF ANDROGEN SUPPLEMENTATION
FOR OLDER MEN
One of the most active areas of clinical research
in Andrology is in the potential to promote
health ageing by androgen supplementation.
The overall aim is to prolong independent
enjoyable living for as long as possible, “to
prevent the preventable, to delay the inevitable”.
Among the most cost-effective and promising
options is the application of androgen
supplementation in older men. It is known that
androgen therapy in younger men can increase
muscular strength, strengthen bones, increase
hemoglobin, enhance energy and improve some
aspects of mental functioning. If this treatment
could be applied effectively to older men, this
approach could provide a preventative treatment
that would maintain energy, mood and mental
functioning as well as avoiding frailty, falls and
fractures. It is not certain however whether this
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will work as well in older men nor whether there
are any hazards that might negate the benefits.
The potential risks and benefits of such
treatment need careful evaluation through
placebo-controlled, randomised clinical trials.
The Department of Andrology is fully committed
to this highest standard of clinical research.

Effects of DHT Treatment to Improve
Muscular Strength and Quality of Life
in Older Men
L LAM, D J HANDELSMAN

In his PhD study, Ly Lam has examined the
potential application of dihydrotestosterone
(DHT), the most potent naturally occurring
androgen, as a form of androgen
supplementation in older men. A major
theoretical advantage of this potent androgen is
that the daily dose is reduced making it easier to
deliver effective amounts by more convenient
delivery systems. Another advantage is that this
androgen is not susceptible to the body’s natural
androgen amplification system within the
prostate so that proportionately the effects on
the prostate may be diminished. Capitalising on
the advantage of a lower daily dosage
requirement, this study also features the
hormone supplied in the form of a gel to be
applied once daily to the skin. This selfadministered treatment which avoids injections is
very popular in Europe but is not currently
available in Australia.
The aim of this study is to weigh up carefully the
potential benefits of improving muscular strength
and physical activity with any possible safety
limitations among men older than 60 years. In
order to study the effects most objectively and
free from the effects of preconceived ideas and
expectations, the study employs the highest
quality, but most demanding, design that of a
randomised, placebo-controlled study.
Community-dwelling volunteers are recruited, and
after careful evaluation, they are being studied
over a 3 month period when they are using daily
gel applications. During this time their muscular
strength, body composition, mental and physical
activity and quality of life were evaluated at
monthly intervals. In addition, a wide range of
safety variables are also being evaluated.

The study was completed and published in the
leading specialist journal in late 2001. This was
the first properly controlled clinical trial of DHT
ever reported. It showed only modest therapeutic
benefit in muscle strength that that this new
approach has will lead to important new
knowledge in this area and guidelines for
potential androgen supplementation in older men.

Effects of Recombinant Human
Chorionic Gonadotrophin Treatment to
Improve Muscular Strength and
Quality of Life in Older Men
P Y LIU, D J HANDELSMAN

Dr Peter Liu’s PhD
studies have focused on
the metabolic effects of
androgens; male
hormones including
testosterone or its
synthetic analogs. In
research supported by a
major multinational
pharmaceutical
company, Serono, he
has completed a study
of a novel form of
androgen
supplementation for
older men. This has
pioneered the use of a
new genetically
engineered form of the
hormone, hCG, which is
not yet available for
routine treatment but which can be conveniently
self-administered a few times weekly. This major
study has examined whether hCG treatment for
3 months is more effective than placebo in men
over the age of 60 years to improve muscle
strength, physical and mental activity, mood and
quality of life. Through strengthening muscles,
this study aims to determine if falls can be
prevented thereby helping to reduce the risk of
serious bone fractures which are a major cause
of debility and death among older men.
Dr Lui’s study has found that hCG increased
muscle mass but produced only a modest
increase (~3%) in muscular strength which was
ANZAC Health and Medical Research Foundation
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almost in significant. Neither muscular function
nor physical activity were improved, nor were
cardiovascular and prostate safety markers
affected, and some aspects of quality of life
deteriorated. Despite striking and sustained
hormonal effects, this study found that hCG had
no significant beneficial effect on muscle
strength or physical function. This carefully
performed study was honoured by an invitation
for presentation by Dr Liu, as one of only four
oral presentations, at the Clinical Trials
Symposium as part of the US Endocrine Society
Annual Scientific Meeting in Denver, Colorado.
Further aspects of the study have included
detailed evaluation of the effects of androgen
supplementation on insulin sensitivity, an effect
which might stave off diabetes, and on other
potentially beneficial effects such as increasing
bone density, fat reduction, and improving blood
vessel function. Analysis of these aspects of the
study are ongoing.

Towards Better Understanding of
Testicular Function:
The Hormonal Regulation of
Spermatogenesis
Transgenic Approaches to the Hormonal
Regulation of Spermatogenesis
C ALLAN, J SPALIVIERO, D J HANDELSMAN

It has been known since early in the 20th century
that sperm production in the testis depends
completely on the pituitary gland which secretes
two gonadotrophin hormones, LH and FSH. LH has
an unique site of action in the body through the
specific LH receptor, which is located exclusively on
Leydig cells of the testis and where it stimulates
the production of testosterone. Testosterone
accumulates at high concentrations in the testis
where it is essential in stimulating sperm
production. Additionally, testosterone enters the
bloodstream to circulate to all other organs to
produce its characteristic effects on muscle, bone,
marrow, brain and numerous other tissues to
maintain bodily health. The other pituitary
gonadotrophin, FSH, has specific receptors on
Sertoli cells, the nurse cells that support, coordinate and nourish the sperm production in the
semeniferous tubules of the testis. The traditional
methods to study the hormonal control of
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spermatogenesis available for many decades have
produced most present knowledge but their
limitations preclude further advances in knowledge
without new experimental models. Recently we
developed the first of the new approaches in this
field. This novel approach applied the power of
genetic manipulation of the well known genes
that produce the gonadotrophin hormones
which govern sperm production. Using a special
strain of mice which has an inactivating mutation
in the master hormone (gonadotrophin releasing
hormone or GnRH) that controls pituitary
gonadotrophin hormone secretion, we were able
to show that testosterone alone in the absence
of FSH could start spermatogenesis. These
findings overturned the conventional beliefs that
both hormones were essential. Our findings and
interpretations were subsequently confirmed a
few years later by overseas research groups who
selectively eliminated FSH leaving testosterone
production intact and found that sperm
production and fertility were retained despite the
absence of FSH. In order to further develop this
picture, we have produced transgenic mice that
secrete FSH autonomously and another line that
has an activating mutation of the FSH receptor
so that the effects of FSH alone, and in
conjunction with testosterone, can be studied
clearly for the first time. These studies have
resulted in important new findings which will be
published shortly.

Fetal Influences on Male
Reproductive Health and Disorders
D J HANDELSMAN

Over the last decade, the epidemiological
understanding of late-life degenerative diseases
has been revolutionised by the observation of
strong, but previously unsuspected, prenatal
influences that determine cardiovascular and
other diseases in late-life. The precise
pathophysiology of such long-range effects on
disease remains speculative but among the
strongest candidates are nutritional and
hormonal effects on the growing fetus. We are
currently initiating investigations into the
potential for strong prenatal influences on the
normal development of the testis and on the
evolution of prostate disease. The key event in
this pathogenesis may be the perinatal surge in
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gonadotrophins and testosterone, a consistent
neonatal features of all mammals. The
physiological significance of the perinatal surge
in gonadotrophins remains unclear. Experimental
studies in the non-human primate suggested it is
an important determinant of ultimate testicular
development but its effects on prostate
development are unknown. Using our well
established planimetric prostate ultrasound
methodology and related measures we aim to
determine if testis development and prostate
zonal structure in mid-life prior to onset of overt
prostate diseases are influenced by prenatal
hormonal influences. This study will involve
evaluating a cohort of younger men to
determine whether prenatal or early life
influences effect prostate zonal volumes and the
reproductive hormones that influence it. A
significant finding would indicate that prenatal
influences are an important, previously
unrecognized influence on the healthy
development of the testis and in the origins of
prostate disease. This would change how we
understand the disease and revolutionise
approaches to prevention of prostate disease.

Transgenic Models of Prostate
Disease
C ALLAN, J SINGH, D J HANDELSMAN

The role of male reproductive hormones in the
origins of prostate disease is well recognized.
The exact mechanisms however by which these
effects are produced remain unclear. If more
were known about these mechanisms, it might
be possible to prevent or reverse prostate disease
during its long and very slow evolution. It is a
curious fact that although prostate disease
depends on prior androgen exposure and
prostate cells remain sensitive to androgens,
most prostate disease becomes evident at an age
when blood testosterone levels are actually
declining. There is much evidence that not only
are androgens important in the origins of
prostate development and disease but also that
estrogens may be influential in prostate growth
and early stages of prostate disease.
Testosterone is known to act in many tissues not
only in its own right but also through conversion
to estrogens. The balance of androgens and

estrogens changes with age and the relative
preponderance of estrogens may be an
important precipitant in the origin of prostate
disease. Using transgenic technology this project
is aiming to express genes in the mouse prostate
to test whether an excess of estrogens might
distort prostate structure and hormonal sensitivity
such that in later life more pathological changes
would be predestined.

TOWARDS DEVELOPMENT OF A
HORMONAL MALE CONTRACEPTIVE:
PRACTICAL APPLICATION OF
HORMONAL REGULATION OF
SPERMATOGENESIS
More profound biological knowledge always
creates opportunities for improved health and
medical care. Better knowledge about the
hormonal regulation of spermatogenesis has a
number of practical applications including
improved prevention diagnosis and treatment for
male infertility but the most promising is the
application to developing hormonal methods of
male contraception. Work under the auspices of
the World Health Organization, which featured
the Department of Andrology as its largest centre,
defined the requirements for a reliable and
reversible hormonal male contraceptive. Based on
these benchmark WHO studies, further research
has made great progress in optimising the
approach to develop a practical hormonal male
contraceptive regimen. Over the last decade, the
use of a depot form of testosterone has been
refined with regard to obtaining the lowest
effective doses and the most synergistic
combination to suppress sperm output without
undesirable side effects. A series of detailed
clinical studies has shown the optimal
combination involves two hormones, a progestin
(an analog of progesterone, the precursor for all
steroid hormones) and testosterone. These pathfinding studies which lead the field internationally
have culminated in a major Australian multi-centre
trial currently underway and centred at Concord
Hospital. This study is funded by CONRAD, an
American public sector agency, and if the first
phase involving 75 Australian couples proves
successful, the study may eventually be extended
to involve further centres in China and Indonesia.
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TOWARDS NEW DIAGNOSIS FOR
PROSTATE CANCER:
USE OF SEMINAL CYTOLOGY IN
SCREENING FOR PROSTATE CANCER
Prostate cancer has a very long latency during
which time it is easily curable if it could be
detected reliably and safely. Over several decades
before the disease is ever diagnosed, prostate
cancer cells are present is a quiescent form in the
prostate gland. During this time it is potentially
curable. Once it has spread outside the prostate, it
is no longer curable. Spread of prostate cancer is
usually silent, which is to say it produces no
symptoms so that men cannot tell if it is present
and spreading. T he key to improving the outcome
for prostate cancer is to make an earlier, but
accurate and reliable, diagnosis of the disease
when it is still easily curable. Eventually when
better tests are developed for prostate cancer, it
may be very effective to use them for regular
population screening to greatly reduce or even
eliminate the death toll from prostate cancer.
Effective screening tests for specific cancers in the
whole population have been developed, for
example, mammography for breast cancer and Pap
smears for cervical cancer.
At present, the PSA test is the best available
screening test for prostate cancer. Unfortunately it
is helpful for monitoring prostate cancer when it is
very advanced and incurable, but it is not good
enough to be widely recommended for population
screening for prostate cancer. It still misses too
many cases and also causes unnecessary treatment
to be adopted for national prostate cancer
screening. As a result, no country has officially
adopted PSA screening due to its limitations. But it
does provide a model of what a better test would
be like.
The Department of Andrology is now evaluating
the use of semen analysis to detect early stages of
prostate cancer. This idea has been proposed by
another Australian group and has similarities to the
use of Pap smears for cervical cancer. Although
the prostate is not accessible like the cervix for
simple smear biopsy, the prostate contributes most
of the fluid to the ejaculate. Hence examining the
ejaculate fluids may find prostate cancer cells being
shed into the prostate fluids. If this test is useful, it
could help make prostate cancer screening simpler
and avoid transrectal prostate biopsy in some men.
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OVARIAN BIOLOGY:
THE PARACRINE ROLE OF INHIBIN
A/ACTIVIN A IN OVULATION
A series of collaborative studies between the
Department of Reproductive Medicine at
Westmead Hospital and the ANZAC Research
Institute are planned to study the molecular
processes involved in female egg release. This
work is expanding the rapidly-growing body of
knowledge of the molecular biology of egg
release by exploring a new hypothesis about how
the hormonal trigger for ovulation, the
pituitaryhormone LH, causes a dramatic change
in the relative concentrations of activin and its
inhibitor, inhibin at the time of egg release.
Recent studies in this laboratory have indicated
that ovulation of cultured murine follicles is
associated with dramatic changes in the relative
secretion of inhibins and activin A. The aim of
this project is to investigate the roles of inhibin A
and activin A in ovulation in two different mouse
models. The studies will investigate the
hypothesis that the ovulatory surge of LH causes
a decline in inhibin alpha subunit synthesis that
results in preferential secretion of activin A by the
granulosa cells. We will also investigate whether
this change in the relative concentrations of
activin A and inhibin A has an important role in
the processes of ovulation in both mouse and
human
The proposal has the following specific objectives:
1. To investigate the physiological role of LH in
the expression and localisation of the genes
of the inhibin/activin system and their
receptors in the preovulatory follicle.
2. To investigate the effects fo the ovulatory
surge (reproduced by a single administration
of hCG) on the expression of mRNA for
inhibin/activin subunits, as well as their
receptors and binding proteins.
3. To identify the signaling mechanism by which
LH/hCG induces the increase in activin
secretion.
4. To identify whether the rapid increase in
activin secretion is a unique response to LH-

Andrology continued

induced ovulation or whether other
manipulations of the growing follicle will also
evoke the same effect.
5. To identify the aspects of ovulation that are
influenced by the rise in activin secretion.
This work will acquire new knowledge about the
basic processes of ovulation which will enlighten
and improve clinical practice in the manipulation
of ovulation. Outcomes of this work may
include developing novel methods of
contraception based on the ability to block egg
release without affecting the normal ovarian
cycle and without administration of hormones to
the whole body, would be attractive. Another
important implication is to improve current
fertility treatment which requires high doses of
ovulation stimulating drugs (the long-term
effects of which remain unknown) to stimulate
egg release. This work could help make simpler
and safer future ovulation treatments by
conducting such procedures of egg ripening
outside the body. This will only be possible
when the fundamental knowledge of the
essential factors for oocyte development,
including the crucial second meiotic division at
ovulation are better understood. Finally, an
improved understanding of the endocrine
environment of the oocyte through studies such
as this will enable refinements in embryology
technique that will improve success rates from
fertility treatment.
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BIOGERONTOLOGY
DG LE COUTEUR, JJ KRIL, M MULLER, V COGGER, A
WARREN, P MROSS.

The Biogerontology Laboratory was established
in January 2001 and is the biological research
arm of the Centre for Education and Research on
Ageing, also based at Concord Hospital. It draws
together expertise in ageing-related processes
and diseases with a particular focus on the
ageing liver under the direction of Professor
David Le Couteur and neuropathology under Dr
Jillian Kril.

The Ageing Liver
The structural and functional changes that occur
in the ageing liver remain poorly understood.
Previously, it was believed that the liver
underwent less age-related changes compared to
other organs; the major changes being a
reduction in liver mass and reduced hepatic
blood flow. These changes have been widely
regarded as contributing to impaired drug
metabolism in older people.
Recent studies published by Professor Le Couteur
and his group have identified for the first time
age-related changes in microscopic structure of
the sinusoidal endothelium of the rat liver.
Unlike the vascular endothelium, the sinusoidal
endothelium possesses fenestrations arranged in
plates that act as molecular sieves. These
fenestrations control the flow of chylomicron
remnants, and hence the flow of lipid, and other
substances into the liver. It has been found with
increased age that there is a reduction in the
diameter and number of fenestrations and the
number of sieve plates in addition to thickening
of the sinusoidal endothelium and the
development of a basement membrane.
Immunohistochemical characterisation of older
livers revealed increased collagen deposits in the
space of Disse and expression of factor VIIIrelated antigen compared to younger livers.
These age-related changes have been termed
pseudocapillarisation to distinguish them from
capillarisation observed in cirrhotic and fibrotic
livers and which are due to specific disease
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states. Such changes may have important
implications for why cardiovascular disease
increases so steeply in ageing. As a result, this
work may identify new approaches to the
prevention and treatment of cardiovascular
disease.
Further studies have been undertaken to
determine if the changes observed in the rat
sinusoidal endothelium also occur within the
human liver. As part of her PhD project,
Alessandra Warren examined autopsy specimens
and has found similar age-related ultrastructural
and immunohistochemical changes to the
sinusoidal endothelium of human livers. This
confirms the value of the rodent model and
enhances the laboratory’s ability to conduct
decisive tests of their innovative hypotheses.
Oxidative stress has been proposed, in part, to
account for the process of pseudocapillarisation
in the liver. Petra Mross, as part of her honours
project, and Victoria Cogger, a PhD student,
explored the effect of acute exposure to
hydrogen peroxide, a potent oxidant, on young
livers. The study demonstrated ultrastructural
changes to the sinusoidal endothelium consistent
with those observed in the aged liver.
Pseudocapillarisation of the liver is postulated to
present a diffusion barrier limiting the uptake of
many substances including lipids, lipid soluble
compounds, drugs or other xenobiotics by the
liver. Consequently, a greater presence of these
substances in the systemic circulation can be
expected. T his may explain, in part, the agerelated impairment of drug metabolism in the
elderly. Pseudocapillarisation may further prove
to be a risk factor for several disorders including
cardiovascular and neurodegenerative diseases
and possibly the development of some tumours
as a result of impaired removal and detoxification
of substances by the liver. An understanding of
the process of pseudocapillarisation of the liver
may lead to effective therapeutic interventions
that lessen the risk of certain age-related
diseases.

Biogerontology continued

Neuropathology
Neuronal loss from the hippocampal formation,
an area of the brain known to be integral to the
formation and retrieval of memory, is one of the
classical features of Alzheimer’s disease (AD).
This neuronal loss is believed to be due to the
formation of intracellular inclusions known as
neurofibrillary tangles (NFTs) as many of the
neurons in the hippocampus show these
inclusions. Dr Kril and colleagues have been
studying the hippocampus of patients with AD as
well as aged control subjects and have found
that, by end-stage, as few as five percent of cells
survive. Interesting, they have also found that
many of these neurons die without ever forming
NFTs. This suggests that some other, as yet
unrecognised mechanism, is responsible for the
majority of neuronal loss from the hippocampus
in AD.
Dr Kril, together with Dr Claire Shepherd and
colleagues from the Prince of Wales Medical
Research Institute, are also investigating the
hypothesis that brain inflammation plays an
integral role in the pathogenesis of AD. Several
studies have shown that the risk of developing
AD is reduced in individuals regularly using antiinflammatory medications. In addition, the AD
plaques which form in AD are infiltrated by
inflammatory cells and proteins. In this study the
amount of brain inflammation and the density of
AD-type pathology was quantified in patients
who did and did not consume anti-inflammatory
medications. The findings show that all patients
with AD have significant brain inflammation and
that this is not altered by the use of antiinflammatory medications. These findings do
not support the hypothesis that brain
inflammation is responsible for the pathology of
AD. However, as cognitive performance is better
in AD patients using anti-inflammatory
medications this suggests that an alternative,
non-inflammatory, mechanism of these drugs
may underlie their action.

ANZAC Health and Medical Research Foundation 27

Cell & Vascular Biology
Cell & Vascular Biology

CARDIOLOGY LABORATORY
D BRIEGER, D BRUCE, B ZANG

The formation of blood clots is a major, potentially
lethal step in heart disease. Most heart attacks
and strokes occur when an already partly blocked
blood vessels, suffer a blood clot which finally
chokes off all further blood supply downstream to
the heart, brain or limbs. Many of the most
important advances in clinical treatment of heart
disease over the last two decades have arisen
from recognizing the importance of blood clotting
on the progression of heart disease. The process
of blood clotting has many molecular and cellular
steps, each of which offer opportunities to prevent
progression of the blood vessel blockage. The
Vascular Biology Laboratory is conducting research
into the mechanisms of blood clotting in key
blood vessels.

Molecular and Cellular Studies of
Blood Clotting Mechanisms in Heart
Disease In Genetic Models
Investigating Neutrophil Mediators of
Fibrinolysis in a Mouse Genetic Model
The protein plasminogen activator is a key
mediator of the blood clotting process. Using
mice which have had the protein, plasminogen
activator (PA), inactivated by genetic engineering,
known as PA knock-out mice, this research is
investigating the involvement of white blood
cells in the blood clots and how this may be
exploited to inhibit clotting.
Polymorphonuclear leucocytes (PMNs)
accumulate in blood clots and within the clot,
the clotting protein fibrin becomes attached to
the PMN. In turn the PMN-attached fibrin is
degraded. As the controls on this key step in
clotting are not understood, the present research
is seeking to learn more about it. The
investigators expect that the ability of PMNs to
degrade fibrin might be greater in the mice
which have no active form of PA.
In the following experiments, clots were
generated in carotid arteries and jugular veins of
PA knock-out mice (PG—/-) and normal controls
(PG+/+) mice and then they were examined
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under the microscope. The PA knock-out mice
did accumulate more PMNs within their blood
vessel clots compared with the normal (“wildtype”) mice. In laboratory experiments, the
PMN’s and other cells from the PA knock-out
mice were more sensitive to being activated by
many different stimuli and were also more
capable of breaking down fibrin than the control
mice. Further studies are ongoing to better
understand these processes, which may be
amenable to manipulation in normal
plasminogen states. This could lead to new
forms of treatment to prevent or treat heart
attacks and stroke.

Investigating novel protease-mediated
fibrinolysis in plasma
Plasminogen activator (PA) is the most important
known enzymes that degrades fibrin. Using the
mice with genetically inactivated PA, it would be
expected that most of not all this activity would
be absent. Yet the laboratory has identified some
unexpected fibrinolysis activity. Yet, in studies
using plasma samples from both PG-/- and
normal control mice, a technique known as
zymography has been used and surprisingly
some alternative non-plasmin, fibrinolytic
proteases was identified. T his weakly proteolytic
enzyme identified in the plasma of mice of both
genotypes became a potent fibrinolytic enzyme
when it was activated by the enzyme trypsin.
The discovery of this novel activity may lead to
better understanding of alternative pathways
that involving additional proteins which
complement the activity of plasminogen in the
fibrinolytic process. This could also create
opportunities for development of novel
treatments for heart disease and stroke.

The Role of Matrix Metalloproteinases in
Patients with Coronary Disease
Matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) are involved in
the breakdown and normal turnover of
extracellular matrix components. These enzymes
have been implicated in both the development of
atherosclerosis and in plaque rupture in acute
coronary syndromes. However, few studies have
examined the association between circulating
MMPs and symptomatic coronary artery disease.

Cell & Vascular Biology continued

We measured plasma activities of MMP-9 and
MMP-2 in healthy controls, and in patients with
unstable and stable angina using zymographic
techniques. In patients with SAP, MMP-9 levels
were significantly elevated relative to controls. In
patients with unstable angina, levels of both
proteases were significantly elevated relative to
controls and patients with stable angina. This
observations suggests that measuring MMP’s
may have a role in diagnosis of risk of serious
heart attack developing from unstable angina. It
also supports the role of MMPs in the
development of unstable coronary syndromes.
Further studies investigating the mechanism and
clinical significance of these findings are planned.
AWARDS AND GRANTS.
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RESPIRATORY LABORATORY
S LIM, L SEETO,

Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) is
a major public health problem worldwide and a
leading cause of morbidity and mortality. Yet
this chronic debilitating disease with major
impact on the ageing population has been poorly
studied and so far little is known about its
underlying cellular and molecular mechanisms.
These areas of knowledge could provide clues for
improved diagnosis and better treatments for the
major disease.
There is increasing evidence that macrophages
may play an important role in COPD. There is a
5-10-fold increase in the number of
macrophages found in lung fluids of patients
with COPD and macrophages are concentrated
in centriacinar zones where emphysema is most
severe. Macrophages can produce several;
enzymes known as matrix metalloproteineases
(MMPs), which can digest the components of
extracellular matrix, the scaffolding on which the
lung cells must function. Macrophages also
produce chemical signals, known as
inflammatory cytokines, chemokines and other

mediators that can orchestrate the inflammatory
process. In asthma, inhaled steroids and long
acting (-agonists are highly effective in inhibiting
the release of inflammatory cytokines produced
by macrophages, however there is little evidence
these drugs are similarly effective in COPD, which
reflects the different disease process in that
condition of older age.
We have studied the
effect of (-agonists
(salmeterol) and
corticosteroids on the
expression of 2
inflammatory cytokines
that are important in
COPD: Interleukin 8 (IL-8)
and tumour necrosis
factor alpha (TNF-().
Alveolar macrophages from patients with COPD
were studied in vitro to assess the effect of
corticosteroids and long acting ( agonists alone
and in combination in attenuating the expression
of TNF-( and IL-8 from alveolar macrophages.
Further studies of other interleukins produced by
the alveolar macrophages and respiratory
epithelium especially during rhinovirus infection
are also underway.
We have observed an additive effect of
salmeterol with steroids in attenuating the
expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines in
alveolar macrophages from COPD patients.
Other studies are ongoing to evaluation the
details of how steroids work using clinical
samples and laboratory experiments to
understand better the process and how steroids
may influence it. Through this research a better,
safer and more effective use of steroids may be
possible.
An imbalance between proteases and antiproteases may be critical in the pathogenesis of
COPD. Several studies suggest that the balance
between regulated macrophage MMP and TIMP,
i.e. MMP-9 and TIMP-1 participates in the
pathogenesis of COPD. We will study the
expression and biologic activity of MMPs in the
pathogenesis of COPD. If this hypothesis is
correct, new approaches to the prevention, and to
retard the progression of COPD may be developed.
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function in men. Proceedings of the American
Heart Association, 2001
Sader MA, Death AK, McGrath K, Handelsman
DJ, Celermajer DS. Genetic and hormonal
influences on androgen receptor expression in
human leukocytes - a potential pro-atherogenic
mechanism in men. Proceedings of the American
Heart Association, 2001
Bianco JJ, Handelsman DJ, Risbridger GP.
Estrogen elicits lobe specific actions on the
mature hypogonadal prostate and seminal
vesicles. Proceedings of Annual Scientific
Meeting of the Endocrine Society of Australia,
Gold Coast, September 2001
Liu PY, Wishart SM, Handelsman DJ. A
randomised placebo controlled clinical trial of
recombinant hCG on insulin sensitivity, mood and
quality of life in older men. Proceedings of
Annual Scientific Meeting of the Endocrine
Society of Australia, Gold Coast, September 2001
Haywood M, Spaliviero J, Koch A, Handelsman DJ,
Allan CM. Stereological evaluation of transgenic
fsh actions on mouse spermatogenesis.
Proceedings of Annual Scientific Meeting of the
Endocrine Society of Australia, Gold Coast,
September 2001
Tymchenko N, Haywood M, Allan CM, Spaliviero
J, Koch A, Gromoll J, Simoni M, Handelsman DJ.
Testosterone and spermatogenesis in a transgenic
mouse model expressing an activating mutation
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of the follicle stimulating hormone receptor.
Proceedings of Annual Scientific Meeting of the
Endocrine Society of Australia, Gold Coast,
September 2001
Turner L, Kelleher S, Wishart SM, Di Pierro I, Liu
PY, Conway AJ, Handelsman DJ. Long-term
outcomes of elective human sperm cryostorage.
Proceedings of Annual Scientific Meeting of the
Endocrine Society of Australia, Gold Coast,
September 2001
Crawford B, Liu P, Kean M, Bleasel J, Handelsman
DJ. Androgen therapy in men on longterm
glucocorticoids - a 12 month randomised,
placebo-controlled trial of testosterone or
nandrolone on bone density and body
composition. Proceedings of Annual Scientific
Meeting of the Australia and New Zealand Bone
and Mineral Society, Auckland, October 2001
Hughes D, White C, Hooper D, Handelsman DJ.
Histomorphometry of male hypogonadal mouse
bone and effect of 17b-estradiol. Proceedings of
Annual Scientific Meeting of the Australia and
New Zealand Bone and Mineral Society,
Auckland, October 2001
Hughes D, White C, Hooper D, Handelsman DJ.
Histomorphometry of male hypogonadal mouse
bone and effect of 17b-estradiol. Proceedings of
Annual Scientific Meeting of the Australia and
New Zealand Orthopaedic Research Society,
Sydney, October 2001

NEUROBIOLOGY
Kennerson ML, Nassif NT and Nicholson GA. The
CMT1A-REP binary repeat: from disease causing
re-arrangements to a role in gene evolution.
Current Genomics 1: 81-90, 2000
Storey E, du Sart D, Shaw JH, Lorentzos P, Kelly L,
McKinley Gardner RJ, Forrest SM, Biros I and
Nicholson GA. Frequency of spinocerebellar ataxia
types 1, 2, 3, 6, and 7 in Australian patients with
spinocerebellar ataxia. American Journal of
Medical Genetics 95:351-7, 2000
Dawkins JL, Hulme DJ, Brahmbhatt SB, AuerGrumbach M and Nicholson GA. Mutations in
SPTLC1, encoding serine palmitoyltransferase,
long chain base subunit-1, cause hereditary

sensory neuropathy type I. Nature Genetics 2001
27:309-12, 2001
Spira PJ, Sharpe DM, Halliday G, Cavanagh J and
Nicholson GA. Clinical and pathological features
of a Parkinsonian syndrome in a family with an
Ala53Thr alpha-synuclein mutation. Annals of
Neurology 49:313-9, 2001
Smith MJ, Kwok JB, McLean CA, Kril JJ, Broe GA,
Nicholson GA, Cappai R, Hallupp M, Cotton RG,
Masters CL, Schofield PR and Brooks WS.
Variable phenotype of Alzheimer’s disease with
spastic paraparesis. Annals of Neurology
49:125-9, 2001
Gaspar C, Lopes-Cendes I, Hayes S, Goto J,
Arvidsson K, Dias A, Silveira I, Maciel P, Coutinho
P, Lima M, Zhou YX, Soong BW, Watanabe M,
Giunti P, Stevanin G, Riess O, Sasaki H, Hsieh M,
Nicholson GA, Brunt E, Higgins JJ, Lauritzen M,
Tranebjaerg L, Volpini V, Wood N, Ranum L, Tsuji
S, Brice A, Sequeiros J, Rouleau GA.
Ancestral origins of the Machado-Joseph disease
mutation: a worldwide haplotype study. American
Journal of Human Genetics 68:523-8, 2001
Abstracts
Dawkins JL, Hulme DJ, Brahmbhatt SB and
Nicholson GA. Positional cloning of the hereditary
sensory neuropathy type I (HSN1) gene. 22nd Lorne
Genome Conference, Lorne, Victoria. February 2001.
Kennerson ML, Rizos H, Nassif NT and Nicholson
GA. Cellular localisation of C17ORF1A: a primate
specific gene associated with the disease causing
CMT1A-REP binary repeat. 22nd Lorne Genome
Conference, Lorne, Victoria. February 2001.

BIOGERONTOLOGY
Fisher AA, Purcell P, Le Couteur DG. Toxicity of
Passiflora incarnata L. Journal of Toxicology and
Clinical Toxicology 38:63-66, 2000.
Le Couteur DG, Owen CA. The medicolegal
assessment - a risk factor for suicide? Medical
Journal of Australia March 172:247, 2000.
Mellick GD, Buchanan DD, Silburn PA, Chan DK,
Le Couteur DG, Law LK, Woo J, Pang CP. The
monoamine oxidase B gene GT repeat
polymorphism and Parkinson’s disease in a
Chinese population. Journal of Neurology.
247:52-5, 2000.
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Harvey PJ, Gready JE, Yin Z, Le Couteur DG,
McLean AJ. Acute oxygen supplementation
restores markers of hepatocyte energy status and
hypoxia in cirrhotic rats. Journal of Pharmacology
and Experimental Therapeutics. 293:641-5,
2000.
Taylor MC, Le Couteur DG, Mellick GD, Board
PG. Paraoxonase polymorphisms, pesticide
exposure and Parkinson’s disease in a Caucasian
population. Journal of Neural Transmission.
107:979-83, 2000.
McCann SJ, McManus ME, Johnson AG, Mellick
GD, Le Couteur DG, Pond SM. The serotonin
transporter gene and Parkinson’s disease.
European Neurology. 44:108-11, 2000.
Fisher AA, Le Couteur DG. Silent myocardial
ischaemia following methysergide overdose.
Australian New Zealand Journal of Medicine.
30:737-8, 2000.
Yang MC, McLean AJ, Rivory LP, Le Couteur DG.
Hepatic disposition of neurotoxins and pesticides.
Pharmacology and Toxicology. 87:286-91, 2000.
Harding AJ, Kril JJ, Halliday GM. Practical
measures to simplify the Braak tangle staging
method for routine pathological screening. Acta
Neuropathologica. 99:199-208, 2000
Halliday G, Robinson S, Shepherd C, Kril J.
Alzheimer’s disease and inflammation: a review
of cellular and therapeutic mechanisms. Clinical
and Experimental Pharmacology and Physiology
27:1-8, 2000.
Harding A, Halliday G, Caine D, Kril J.
Degeneration of anterior thalamic nuclei
differentiates alcoholics with amnesia. Brain
123:141-54, 2000
Halliday GM, Shepherd CE, McCann H, Reid
WGJ, Grayson DA, Broe GA, Kril JJ. Antiinflammatory medications do not decrease
Alzheimer’s disease neuropathology. Archives of
Neurology 57:831-6, 2000
Mellick GD, Buchanan DD, Hattori N, Brookes AJ,
Mizuno Y, Le Couteur DG, Silburn PA. The parkin
gene S/N167 polymorphism in Australian
Parkinson’s disease patients and controls.
Parkinsonism Related Disorders. 7:89-91, 2001
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Le Couteur DG, Cogger VC, Markus AM, Harvey
PJ, Yin ZL, Ansselin AD, McLean AJ.
Pseudocapillarization and associated energy
limitation in the aged rat liver. Hepatology.
33:537-43, 2001.
Le Couteur DG, Davis MW, Webb M, Board PG.
P-glycoprotein, multidrug-resistance-associated
protein and Parkinson’s disease. P-glycoprotein,
multidrug-resistance-associated protein and
Parkinson’s disease. European Neurology.45:28990, 2001
Taylor MC, Board PG, Blackburn AC, Mellick GD,
Le Couteur DG. Zeta class glutathione transferase
polymorphisms and Parkinson’s disease. Journal
of Neurology, Neurosurgery and Psychiatry.
70:407, 2001.
Cho CS, McLean AJ, Rivory LP, Gatenby PA,
Hardman DT, Le Couteur DG. Carbon monoxide
wash-in method to determine gas transfer in
vascular beds: application to rat hindlimb.
American Journal of Physiology (Heart Circulation
Physiology). 280:H1802-6, 2001.
Yin ZL, Dahlstrom JE, Le Couteur DG, Board PG.
Immunohistochemistry of omega class
glutathione S-transferase in human tissues.
Journal of Histochemistry and Cytochemistry.
49:983-7, 2001.
Smith MJ, Kwok JBJ, McLean CA, Kril JJ, Broe
GA, Nicholson GA, Cappai R, Hallupp M, Cotton
RGH, Masters CL, Schofield PR, Brooks WS.
Variable phenotype of Alzheimer’s disease with
spastic paraparesis in a pedigree with a deletion
of exon 9 of the presenilin 1 gene. Annals of
Neurology 49:125-129, 2001.
Fisher AA, Le Couteur DG. Intracerebral
hemorrhage following possible interaction
between celecocib and clopidogrel. Annals of
Pharmacotherapy
(in press).
Cogger VC, Mross P, Hosie MJ, Ansselin AD,
McLean AJ, Le Couteur DG. The effect of acute
oxidative stress on the ultrastructure of the
perfused rat liver. Pharmacology and Toxicology
(in press).
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Reviews
Le Couteur DG, Fisher AA, McKeown RV.
Deathcap mushroom - warning. Australian
Prescriber 23:42, 2000
Fisher AA, Le Couteur DG. Lead poisoning from
complementary and alternative medicine in
multiple sclerosis. Journal of Neurology,
Neurosurgery and Psychiatry. 69:687-9, 2000
Fisher AA, Le Couteur DG. Nephrotoxicity and
hepatotoxicity of histamine H2 receptor
antagonists. Drug Safety. 24:39-57, 2001
Kril JJ, Halliday GM. Alzheimer’s disease: its
diagnosis and pathogenesis. International Review
of Neurobiology. Bradley R, Harris RA, Jenner P
eds. Academic Press, San Diego. 48:167-217,
2001.
Shenfield G, Le Couteur DG, Rivory LP. Update in
clinical pharmacology. Medical Journal of
Australia (in press)
Abstracts
Taylor MC, Board PG, Mellick GD, Blackburn AC,
Le Couteur DG. Zeta class glutathione-Stransferase and Parkinson’s disease. Movement
Disorders 15(suppl 3):29, 2000.
Mellick GD, Le Couteur DG, Boyle RS, Silburn PS.
A re-examination of dopamine transporter
genotypes in Australian Parkinson’s disease patients.
Movement Disorders 15(suppl 3):194, 2000.
Fisher A, Davis M, McLean AJ, Howard A, Le
Couteur DG. Risk factors for falls and fall-related
fractures in elderly hostel residents. Australian
Society Geriatric Medicine, Cains 2000.
Fisher AA, McLean A, Howard A, Davis M, Le
Couteur DG. Anti-hypertensive therapy is not
associated with falls, orthostatic hypotension or
postprandial hypotension in octo- and
nonagenarians. CPT 58, World Conference on
Clinical Pharmacology and Therapeutics, Florence
2000.
Markus AMA, Dahlstrom JE, Philippa C, McLean
AA, Le Couteur DG. Pseudocapillarisisation in
aged human liver - an immunohistochemical
study. Proceedings of the Australasian Society of
Clinical and Experimental Pharmacologists and
Toxicologists 8:142, 2000.

Yang MC, McLean AJ, Le Couteur DG. The effect
of pesticide exposure on the hepatic extraction
of MPTP. Proceedings of the Australasian Society
of Clinical and Experimental Pharmacologists and
Toxicologists 8:123, 2000.
Fisher AA, Howard A, Davis MW, McLean AJ, Le
Couteur DG. Orthostatic hypotension, medication
and falls in elderly hostel residents. Proceedings
of the Australasian Society of Clinical and
Experimental Pharmacologists and Toxicologists
8:100, 2000.
Woodham BL, Le Couteur DG. The effects of
ageing and Parkinson’s disease on paracetamol
and theophylline metabolism. Proceedings of the
Australasian Society of Clinical and Experimental
Pharmacologists and Toxicologists 8:27, 2000.
Buckley NA, Fountain J, Peter JV, Davies L, Le
Couteur DG, Edwards J. Evidence based clinical
toxicology symposium - organophosphate
poisoning. Proceedings of the Australasian Society
of Clinical and Experimental Pharmacologists and
Toxicologists 8:7, 2000
Le Couteur DG. Damage to the central nervous
system (Parkinson’s disease and cognitive defects).
Proceedings of the Australasian Society of Clinical
and Experimental Pharmacologists and
Toxicologists 8:9, 2000
McLean AJ, Cogger VC, Harvey PJ, Yin ZL, Le
Couteur DG. Pseudocapillarization of the aged liver.
Clinical Pharmacology and Therapeutics 69:P15,
2001
Bassett M, Dahlstrom J, Maxwell L, Le Couteur D,
Taylor M, Jain S, Francis D, McLean A.
Ultrastructural changes in hepatic sinusoidal
endothelial cells in response to iron loading. Bioiron
2001 - World Congress on Iron Metabolism,
Cairns, P26, 2001
Fraser R, Dobbs B, Jamieson H, Cogger V, Le
Couteur DG. The role of the liver sieve in
physiology and pathology. 2nd International
Conference on Hepatic and Splanchnic Circulation
in Health and Disease, Dunedin, NZ 2001
Cogger V, McLean AJ, Le Couteur DG. The liver
sinusoidal endothelium in ageing. 2nd
International Conference on Hepatic and
Splanchnic Circulation in Health and Disease,
Dunedin, NZ 2001
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Yang MC, McLean AJ, Le Couteur DG. Effect of
pesticide exposure and ageing on the hepatic
extraction of neurotoxins. XIX International
Neurotoxicology Conference Series. Parkinson’s
disease, environment and genes. Arizona, USA 2001

Oliver BG, Hendel N, Haghighi K, Breslin ABX, Lim
S. Failure of cigarette smoke extract to stimulate
alveolar macrophages and peripheral blood
mononuclear cells. American Journal of Respiratory
and Critical Care Medicine 163:5, April 2001

CELL AND VASCULAR BIOLOGY

CARDIOLOGY LABORATORY

Respiratory Laboratory
Ito K, Lim S, Chung KF, Barnes PJ, Adcock IM.
Reduced expression of histone deacetylases in the
airways of smoking subjects. FASEB Journal.
15:1110-2, 2001

Abstracts
Zeng B, Bruce D and Brieger DB. Effect of
polymorphonuclear leucocytes on fibrin(ogen)
degradation in plasminogen knock-out mice.
Presented at the 18th Congress of the
International Society of Thrombosis and
Haemostasis in Paris, July 2001.

Lim S, Tomita K, Caramori G, Jatakanon A, Keller
A, Chung KF and Barnes PJ. Low dose theophylline
reduces eosinophilic inflammation but does not
reduce exhaled no in mild asthma.. American
Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine
164: 273-276, 2001
Caramori G, Lim S, Ito K, Tomita K, Oates T, Chung
KF, Barnes PJ, Adcock IM. Gata family of
transcription factors in T Cells, monocytes and
bronchial biopsies of normal and asthmatic
subjects. European Respiratory Journal (In press)
Knight D, Lim S, Scaffedi A, Chung KF, Misso N,
Stewart G, Thompson P. Immunohistochemical
detection of protease-activated receptor (par-1)
and par-2 modulation in asthma. Journal of
Allergy and Clinical Immunology (In press)
Oliver B, Tomita K, Carramori G, Barnes PJ, Adcock
IM, Chung KF and Lim S. Low dose theophylline
does not exert immunomodulatory effect in
patients with mild asthma through interleukin 10.
Allergy and Clinical Immunology International (In
press)

Abstracts
Cossa G, Plowman L, Breslin ABX, Lim S.
Continuous objective assessment of wheezing in
adult asthma patients hospitalised following an
acute exacerbation of asthma. European
Respiratory Journal 12:28 2001;198s
Cossa G, Plowman L, Mcgarvey L, Rogers P, Laks L,
Breslin ABX, Lim S. Continuous, all-night monitoring of
breath sounds and polysomnography in patients with
nocturnal asthma: relationship of nocturnal wheezing
to arousals. American Journal of Respiratory and
critical Care Medicine 163:5, April 2001
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Zeng B, Bruce D, Kril J, Ploplis V, and Brieger DB.
Effect of polymorphonuclear leucocytes on
fibrin(ogen) degradation in plasminogen knock-out
mice. Presented at the Annual meeting of the
Cardiac Society of Australia and New Zealand,
Auckland, August 2001.

Research Grants
Research Grants

ANDROLOGY
PROJECT

YEARS

TOTAL$

1998-2000

$170,000

2000

$25,000

NHMRC Project Grant #153855 The role of FSH in spermatogenesis (Handelsman, Allan, Illingworth)

2001-2003

$285,000

NHMRC Project Grant #153856 Prenatal factors in male reproductive health (Handelsman)

2001-2003

$275,000

2001

$40,000

1998-2001

$US 273,000

Medical Foundation University of Sydney Program Grant (Handelsman) Prostate Physiology and Disease (Dong)

1999-2000

$60,000

Merck Medical School Grant - Androgens and Atherosclerosis: The Potential
Role of Male Sex Steroids in Vascular Disease (Death, Celermajer, Handelsman)

2000-2001

$44,000

2000

$55,000

2000-2001

$44,000

National Health and Medical Research Council
NHMRC Project Grant #980126 Clinical applications of dihydrotestosterone (Handelsman)
NHMRC Equipment Grant Real time PCR (Handelsman, Allan, Illingworth, Kril, Nicholson)

NHMRC Equipment Grant Confocal Microscope (Handelsman, Nicholson, Le Couteur, Kril, Lim,
O’Neill, Illingworth)
Research Foundations and Programs
CONRAD - Efficacy, Safety, and Service Feasibility of an Androgen/Progestin
Depot Regimen for Hormonal Male Contraception (Handelsman, Conway)

University of Sydney Major Equipment Grant Real time PCR (Handelsman, Allan, Illingworth, Kril, Nicholson)
Merck Medical School Grant - Androgens and Atherosclerosis: The Potential
Role of Male Sex Steroids in Vascular Disease (Death, Celermajer, Handelsman)
Clive and Vera Ramaciotti Foundation Equipment for microinjection (Allan,Handelsman)

2001

$12,000

Rebecca L Cooper Foundation - Equipment for microinjection (Handelsman, Allan)

2001

$15,500

1998-2001

$30,000

Pharmacia and Upjohn - Efficacy, Safety and Service Feasibility of an Androgen/
Progestin Depot Regimen for Hormonal Male Contraception (Handelsman, Conway)

1998-2001

$5,000

Serono - A double-blind, placebo-controlled, randomised study of
recombinant hCG or placebo on muscular strength, function and quality
of life in men over 60 years of age with partial androgen deficiency
(Handelsman, Liu, Conway)

1999-2000

$131,500

Pharmaceutical Industry Grants and Contracts
Organon - Efficacy, Safety and Service Feasibility of an Androgen/Progestin
Depot Regimen for Hormonal Male Contraception (Handelsman, Conway)
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PROJECT

YEARS

TOTAL$

1998-2000

$54,000

1999-2001

$75,000

1998 - 2000

$315,000

2001-2003

$615,000

1998 - 2000

$213,600

2001

$10,000

Clive and Vera Ramaciotti Foundation for Brain Research Functional studies on the Gene causing hereditary sensory
neuropathy (Nicholson, Kennerson)

2001

$12,000

Rebecca L Cooper Foundation - Finding the gene for hereditary
sensory neuropathy: a new cause of sensory neurone degeneration
(Nicholson, Kennerson)

2001

$16,000

1999-2001

$165,000

National Health and Medical Research Council Tender Scoping Study on ageing Research (Le Couteur, Khalil)

2001

$82,000

NHMRC Equipment, University of Sydney Purchase of HPLC (Le Couteur)

2001

$18,000

2001

$75,000

SESQUI - Pathogenesis and Functional Significance of Age-related
Pseudocapillarisation (Le Couteur)

2001

$42,500

Department of Health and Aged Care Tender Falls in residential care (Le Couteur, Shanley)

2001

$155,000

Post-Graduate Student Scholarships
NHMRC Public Health PhD Scholarship Epidemiology of prostate size in Australian men (Zhuang)
NHMRC Biomedical & Dental PhD Scholarship Metabolic Effects of Androgens in Ageing Men (Liu)

NEUROBIOLOGY
National Health and Medical Research Council
NH&MRC Project Grant #980140 Positional Cloning of the gene for Hereditary Sensory Neuropathy type 1 (Nicholson)
NHMRC #153895 - Genetic Bases for Charcot-Marie-Tooth and
hereditary sensory type 1 neuropathies (Nicholson, Kennerson)
Muscular Dystrophy Association (USA)
MDA Project Grant # 472683 Mapping the mutation for hereditary sensory neuropathy (Nicholson)
Research Foundations and Programmes
Australian Brain Foundation Gene mutation screening in Parkinson’s disease (Nicholson)

BIOGERONTOLOGY
National Health and Medical Research Council
NHMRC #990937 Hepatic Oxygenation and Ageing
(Le Couteur, McLean, Ansselin)

Research Foundations and Programs
Australian Brain Foundation - A Potential New Test for Diagnosing
Early Dopamine Cell Loss (Double, Halliday, Le Couteur)
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PROJECT

YEARS

TOTAL$

2000

$55,000

Clive and Vera Ramaciotti Foundation The Effect of Theophylline on the expression of MMPs and Cytokines in COPD (Lim)

2001

$18,000

Australian Lung Foundation: Grant in Aid The Clinical Utility of using non-invasive markers of inflammation
in the management of Asthma (Lim)

2001

$24,000

2000

$20,000

Mitsubishi Pharmaceuticals The effect of Theophylline on the expression MMPs in COPD (Lim)

2000

$60,000

Smith-Kline & Beecham - A 12-week randomized double-blind
placebo-controlled, parallel-group study to investigate the effect of ARIFLO
on trapped gas volume in patients with COPD (Lim)

2000

$37,000

Karmel Medical Acoustic Technologies Equipment Grant - The effect of
nocturnal asthma on sleep fragmentation in patients with asthma, using
a novel automatic wheeze quantifying device (PulmoTrack) (Lim)

2000

$120,000

Westmead Technologies - A study to evaluate Peak Flow and MDI usage
in patients admitted and discharged following acute asthma using a
computerised Peak Flow meter (Peak Log and computerised MDI (MDILog) (Lim)

2000

$4000

AstraZeneca Pharmaceuticals Australia - A study of steroid withdrawal in
patients with severe COPD (Lim)

2000

$4,000

Boehringer Ingelheim Pharmaceuticals Australia Unrestricted research grant for COPD research projects #11 and 16 (Lim)

2000

$5,000

GlaxoWellcome - Interaction between _2 agonists and long acting
bronchodilators in alveolar macrophages (Lim)

2001

$475,173

Compumedics Australia - Development of a novel acoustic device
for monitoring wheezing is asthma (Lim)

2001

$60,000

CELL AND VASCULAR BIOLOGY
RESPIRATORY LABORATORY
Research Foundations and Programs
Sylvia and Charles Viertel Charitable Foundation
Clinical Investigatorship (Lim)

Pharmaceutical Industry Grants and Contracts
Novartis Pharmaceuticals - The effect of Foradile on nocturnal asthma in
patients with chronic asthma (Lim)
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Governance
Governance

Professor John Young AO FAA (Chair)
Professor John Young is Pro Vice-Chancellor (Health Sciences) at the University of Sydney. He
is a Director of the Royal Alexandra Hospital for Children and Deputy Chair of the Board of
Central Sydney Area Health Service. He is also Vice President and Secretary (Biological) of the
Australian Academy of Science and President of the Federation of Asian and Oceanian
Physiological Societies. He is a member of the National Health and Medical Research Council
and of the Medical Board of NSW. Professor Young is Chair of the Council of the ANZAC
Foundation and the Executive Board.

Mr Godfrey (Rusty) Priest AM (Deputy Chair)
Mr Rusty Priest is State President of the Returned and Services League of Australia (New
South Wales Branch). Rusty enlisted in the 2nd AIF in June 1945. He served in Japan
with the British Commonwealth Occupation Forces from April 1946 to December 1948,
in the Australian Regular Army from 1946 to 1967 and the Emergency Reserve until
1975. Upon resigning from the Army, Rusty took a management position at the
University of Sydney where he remained until retirement in 1990. He is extensively
involved in all matters which affect the welfare of veterans and their dependants. Rusty
Priest was elected State President of the RSL (NSW Branch) in May 1993 and Deputy
National President of the RSL in September 1997. Mr Rusty Priest is Deputy Chairman
of the ANZAC Health & Medical Research Foundation and its Executive Board.

Mrs Felicity Barr
Mrs Felicity Barr is the Deputy Commissioner in NSW for the Department of Veterans’
Affairs. She has a degree in languages and other qualifications in computing and
gemmology. During her career in the Commonwealth Public Service, she has worked in
the Departments of Transport, Aviation and Education before joining Veterans’ Affairs
over twelve years ago. She has extensive management experience in health, housing
and insurance, with particular interests in aged care and health promotion and is a
member of the Australian Institute of Company Directors. Mrs Barr is Honorary
Treasurer of the ANZAC Foundation and member of the Executive Board.

Ms Kerry Chikarovski MP
Ms Kerry Chikarovski is a graduate of the University of Sydney with degrees in
Economics and Law, majoring in Industrial Relations. She was elected to the NSW
Parliament in May 1991, as the Member for the northern Sydney seat of Lane Cove.
Before entering politics, she worked as a solicitor in private practice, specialising in
property and commercial law, and as a lecturer at the College of Law. In December
1994 she was elected to the position of Deputy Leader of the NSW Liberal Party - a
position she held until the 1995 State Election. She has also held the positions of
Shadow Minister for Corrective Services and Emergency Services, and the Environment
and is now the Leader of the Opposition in the NSW Parliament as well as holding the
portfolio responsibilities of the Arts, Ethnic Affairs and Women.
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Mr Matthew Daly
Mr Matthew Daly has managed in a variety of health setting including teaching
hospitals, district hospitals, private hospitals and community health services for the last
twenty years. He is currently Executive Director of Concord Repatriation General
Hospital, a 550 bed teaching hospital of the University of Sydney, and Canterbury
Hospital. Matthew holds tertiary qualifications in health administration and business
and is a surveyor for The Australian Council of Healthcare Standards and State Branch
Councillor with the Australian College of Health Service Executives.

Mr Alan Davidson AM MBE
Mr Alan Davidson is the President NSW Cricket Association and Chairman of the Fresh Food
Australia Holdings Pty Ltd. Mr Davidson is a former Australian Test cricketer and is a
member of NSW Sports Advisory Council. He is Trustee of the Bradman Museum Trust and
Director of the Bradman Foundation. Mr Davidson is a member of the Executive Board.

Professor Michael Field
Professor Michael Field is Professor of Medicine in the University of Sydney at Concord
Repatriation General Hospital. He is Associate Dean (Curriculum) in the Faculty of
Medicine, and Chair of the Division of Medicine at the Hospital. He has a research and
clinical background in renal medicine, and is a past President of the Australian and New
Zealand Society of Nephrology, and a current member of Council of the International
Society of Nephrology.

The Hon Mr Tim Fischer
Born at Lockhart in southern NSW and educated at Boree Creek and in Melbourne, Tim
Fischer is a former Army Officer who served in both Australia and Vietnam. First elected
to NSW Parliament in 1970 to represent the then Country Party, in 1984 he was elected
to Federal Parliament as representative for the National Party for the seat of Farrer. He
served on many Committees and held several Shadow portfolio positions in Opposition,
and was elected Leader of the National Party after the 1990 election. Mr Fischer served
as Deputy Prime Minister and Minister for Trade from 1996 - July 1999.

Mr John Graves
Mr John Graves is a partner in the national law firm Hunt and Hunt. He practices, in
the firm’s Corporate group, extensively in the areas of business law, business
structuring, construction and development law, and intellectual property.
Mr Graves is actively involved in a number of community organisations including some
NSW State Administration Boards for the Uniting Church in Australia and business
associations including the Property Council of Australia where he chairs a subcommittee
involving matters of property law. He is also a director of a number of companies and is
involved in the provision of legal education to community groups and to the legal
profession. This includes being an examiner for the Specialist Accreditation Scheme for
Property Law and Business Law for the Law Society of NSW.
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Professor David Handelsman
Professor David Handelsman was appointed the inaugural Professor/Director of the
Foundation in June 1998. After graduating in Medicine in 1974 and obtaining specialist
qualifications in Endocrinology in 1980, his research career began in 1980 with
postgraduate PhD studies during which he established the first specialized Andrology
centre in Australia. Over 20 years he has published over 200 papers among 430
scientific contributions, has obtained consistent funding from peer-reviewed grant
agencies and pharmaceutical industry contracts. He has been adviser to the WHO
Human Reproduction Programme since 1988 and Secretary of the International Society
of Andrology. He received the Susman Prize (1994) from the Royal Australasian College
of Physicians, was appointed Visiting Professor, University of Munster, Germany in 1995
and promoted to a Personal Chair at the University of Sydney in 1996 becoming the first
Professor of Andrology in Australia. Professor Handelsman is an ex-offico member of the
Council, Executive Board and Research Committee.

Mr Geoffrey Hartigan
Mr Geoffrey Hartigan is a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia.
He has held and presently holds numerous senior appointments on the Council of the
Institute of Chartered Accountants and committees of that Institute. He is also a Fellow
of the Institute of Company Directors and holds numerous directorships of both public
and private companies. Mr Hartigan is currently Managing Director of South Pacific
Securities Pty Limited, Licensed Securities dealer. In 1988 Mr Hartigan was awarded
Businessman of the Year for work undertaken in corporate mergers and acquisitions. He
has been retained for projects by the NSW Government and was author of the Hartigan
Report, which reviewed the operation of Local Government in NSW. Mr Hartigan served
in the Royal Australian Armoured Corp from 1967 to 1969 including active service in
Vietnam. Mr Hartigan is a member of the Executive Board.

Dr Diana Horvath AO
Dr Diana Horvath was appointed Chief Executive Officer of the Central Sydney Area
Health Service in 1992. Her extensive knowledge of health issues has led to her
appointment on numerous councils and committees at state and federal level. Dr
Horvath is currently a member of Macquarie University Council, a member of the
International Advisory Panel of Canadian Institute of Health Information and Chairman
of the Australian Disaster Medicine Co-ordination Group, which reports to AHMAC,
since 1998; Chairman, National Health and Medical Research Council 1991 - 1994;
President, Australian Hospital Association 1993 - 1995; Member, Australian Health
Ministers’ Advisory Council 1991 - 1994; and Commissioner, Health Insurance
Commission 1988 - 1993.
Dr Horvath has made an enormous contribution to the delivery of modern-day
healthcare. In 1992 the Australian Hospital Association awarded her its highest honour,
the Sax Medal, for outstanding individual achievement, innovation and excellence in
healthcare delivery. In 1995 she was made an Officer in the Order of Australia for her
dedication to the Australian public health sector, spanning more than 25 years. Dr
Horvath is a member of the Executive Board.
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Dr Edward Kremer OAM
Dr Kremer is a General Practitioner in Bondi Beach and has a particular interest in fund
raising. He is a member of the Royal Australian Army Medical Corps and Consultant to
the Director of Health Services NSW. Dr Kremer is the AMA representative to the
Medical Advisory Panel, Department of Veterans’ Affairs, Canberra. He is a member of
the Faculty Board, Royal Australian College of General Practitioners, NSW, and the
representative on the NSW Advisory Panel to the Department of Veterans’ Affairs.

Mrs Ethel Lane AM MBE
Mrs Ethel Lane joined Concord Hospital in 1942 as an Australian Army Nursing Sister.
She has been actively involved in services for ex-servicemen and women for many years
and in 1994 was honoured by the naming of the EM Lane Chair of Surgical Nursing,
Faculty of Nursing, University of Sydney. Mrs Lane is a member of the Executive Board.

Mrs Beryl Page
Mrs Beryl Page was appointed to the Council in October 1998. Mrs Page is State
President and a Director of the War Widows’ Guild of Australia, NSW Limited. A war
widow for eleven and a half years she has served as Honorary Secretary of Liverpool
War Widows’ Guild Club and the Legacy Club of Liverpool. In 1992 Mrs Page was
elected to the State Council War Widow’s Guild, in 1993 she was elected to the State
Executive, from 1994 - 1997 served as State Vice President. In 1998 Mrs Page was
elected State President and also in that year Mrs Page was elected National Vice
President. Mrs Page is a retired trained nurse with experience in general, geriatric,
rehabilitation and community nursing. She has a strong appreciation of war widows’
needs and deep understanding of the Ex-Service community.

Dr Charles Pawsey
Dr Pawsey graduated from the University of Adelaide in 1967. He spent three years at
Queen Elizabeth Hospital in Adelaide and then at Greenslopes in Brisbane as a National
Heart Foundation Research Assistant undertaking research into the Renin-Angiotension
system and hypertension. He undertook his physician traineeship at Sydney Hospital in
1972-73 and his Cardiology training at Royal Prince Alfred Hospital in 1974-75 and at
Johns Hopkins Hospital in 1976. Since 1977 he has been a Staff Cardiologist at Concord
Repatriation General Hospital. Dr Pawsey is a member of the Executive Board.

Mr Graham Richardson
Mr Richardson is a former Senator and member of the Hawke & Keating Ministries. He
held a number of prominent portfolios including Minister for Health. Mr Richardson
resigned from Parliament in 1992 and currently hosts a drive-time radio program. He
was a member of the Sydney Organising Committee for the Olympic Games and was
appointed Mayor of the Olympic Village.
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Ms Kerry Russell
Ms Russell is the Director of Nursing, Concord Repatriation General Hospital. Kerry has
an extensive health background and has been employed by CSAHS for a period of 24
years. From 1996 - 1998 Kerry was seconded to the NSW Health Department, as
Associate Director Nursing Branch. Ms Russell has an interest in strategic planning,
financial management and resource allocation and recruitment and retention issues. Ms
Russell holds a Bachelor of Administration from the University of New England, is a
member of the NSW College of Nursing and is a surveyor with ACHS. Ms Russell is a
member of the Executive Board.

Ms Ann Sanders
Ann Sanders is the senior news anchor for Channel Seven News. Over the last 24 years
she has presented major news events from around the world. Ann reported from the
scene of the Thredbo disaster, the Port Arthur massacre, the Funeral of Diana the
Princess of Wales and she uncovered the tragedy of the Children of Chernobyl to
Australian viewers. Her presenting roles have included Australia’s Most Wanted, 11am,
local and federal elections and most recently the Sydney Olympics for Channel Seven
News. Ann is married with two young sons and is an active supporter of many
charitable organisations.

Dr Margaret Sanger
Dr Margaret Sanger is Director of Medical Services at Concord Repatriation General
Hospital. Graduating with honours in Medicine from the University of Sydney she spent
five years practising clinical medicine at Concord and Royal Prince Alfred Hospitals. Dr
Sanger holds a Master of Health Administration degree and Fellowship of Royal Australian
College of Medical Administration. Dr Sanger is a member of the Executive Board.

Rear Admiral Peter Sinclair AC
Rear Admiral Sinclair was born in Sydney 1934 and educated at North Sydney Boys High
School and the Royal Australian Naval College. Rear Admiral Sinclair served in the Royal
Australian Navy 1948 - 1989 serving on 14 ships. The command included HMAS Duchess,
HMAS Hobart, HMAS Penguin, Maritime Commander Australia and Commandant
Australian Defence Force Academy. Admiral Sinclair was appointed coordinator Flood
Relief Operation Bogan Shire 1990 and Governor NSW 1990 - 1996. He is currently
Chairman of the Council of the Order of Australia and is Deputy Chair of the Newcastle
Permanent Building Society. He holds an Honorary Doctorate from the University of Sydney
and Southern Cross University and life membership of the RSL. Rear Admiral Sinclair is
Patron of the Hunter Medical Research Foundation and the Australian Surf Live Saving
Foundation and operates ‘Flagship’ Poll Hereford Stud near Tea Gardens NSW.

Sir Bruce Williams KBE
Sir Bruce is a former Vice Chancellor of the University of Sydney and member of the
Reserve Bank Board and is currently a member of the Finance Committee, the University
of Sydney, and Chair of the Sydney International Piano Competition of Australia. Sir
Bruce is Chair of the Council’s Building Sub Committee, overseeing the capital works
project for the ANZAC Research Institute.
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DIRECTORS REPORT TO THE MEMBERS
The directors hereby present their report for the year ended 30
June 2001.
The names and details of directors in office at the date of this
report are:
MBBS[Qld] MD[Qld] DSc[Qld]

FAA FRACP

Chair
PRO VICE CHANCELLOR, HEALTH SCIENCES, UNIVERSITY OF SYDNEY.
DEPUTY CHAIR, CENTRAL SYDNEY AREA HEALTH SERVICE
DIRECTOR, ROYAL ALEXANDRA HOSPITAL FOR CHILDREN
DIRECTOR, ARTHUR T GEORGE FOUNDATION
TRUSTEE, SYDNEY FOUNDATION OF MEDICAL RESEARCH
DIRECTOR, CRC ASTHMA
MEMBER, NATIONAL HEALTH AND MEDICAL RESEARCH COUNCIL
MEMBER, MEDICAL BOARD OF NSW
PRESIDENT, FEDERATION OF ASIAN AND OCEANIAN PHYSIOLOGICAL
SOCIETIES

Mr Godfrey E Priest AM
Deputy Chair
STATE PRESIDENT RETURNED SERVICES LEAGUE OF NSW
DIRECTOR, REVESBY HEIGHTS EX-SERVICEMEN’S CLUB LTD.
DEPUTY NATIONAL PRESIDENT, RETURNED SERVICES LEAGUE

Mrs Felicity M Barr BA[LaTrobe] FGAA
Hon. Treasurer
DEPUTY COMMISSIONER FOR NSW, DEPARTMENT FOR VETERANS’ AFFAIRS

Ms Kerry A Chikarovski MP BEc LLB[Syd]
Director
LEADER OF THE OPPOSITION, NSW PARLIAMENT

Mr Matthew Daly ADipHA BBus AFACHSE
Director
EXEC. DIRECTOR, CONCORD REPATRIATION GENERAL HOSPITAL &
CANTERBURY HOSPITAL

Mr Alan K Davidson AM MBE
Director
DIRECTOR, BRADMAN MUSEUM TRUST
DIRECTOR, BRADMAN FOUNDATION
DIRECTOR, NSW CRICKET BOARD
CHAIRMAN, FRESH FOOD HOLDINGS PTY LTD

Professor Michael J Field MD BS BSc(Hons) FRACP
Director
PROFESSOR OF MEDICINE, UNIVERSITY OF SYDNEY AND CONCORD
REPATRIATION GENERAL HOSPITAL
CHAIR, RESEARCH COMMITTEE, ANZAC HEALTH & MEDICAL RESEARCH
FOUNDATION
CHAIR, DIVISION OF MEDICINE, CONCORD REPATRIATION GENERAL
HOSPITAL
ASSOCIATE DEAN (CURRICULUM), FACULTY OF MEDICINE, UNIVERSITY OF
SYDNEY

Mr Timothy A Fischer
Director
Mr L John Graves BCom LLB Ac Spec Business Law Ac Spec Property Law
Director
SOLICITOR; PARTNER OF HUNT & HUNT SOLICITORS OF SYDNEY

Professor David J Handelsman MBBS[Melb] FRACP PhD[Syd]
Director
FOUNDATION DIRECTOR, ANZAC HEALTH & MEDICAL RESEARCH
FOUNDATION,
DIRECTOR, ANZAC RESEARCH INSTITUTE
SUB-DEAN RESEARCH (CONCORD), UNIVERSITY OF SYDNEY
DIRECTOR, DEPARTMENT OF ANDROLOGY, CONCORD REPATRIATION
GENERAL HOSPITAL
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MANAGING DIRECTOR, SOUTH PACIFIC SECURITIES

Dr Diana G Horvath AO MBBS(Hons) [Syd]

DIRECTORS

Professor John A Young AO BSc[Qld]

Mr Geoffrey J Hartigan
Director

MHP[NSW] FRACMA FAFPHM

FCHSE

Director
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER, CENTRAL SYDNEY AREA HEALTH SERVICE
DIRECTOR, CENTENARY INSTITUTE FOR CANCER MEDICINE AND CELL
BIOLOGY
DIRECTOR, INSTITUTE OF RESPIRATORY MEDICINE

Dr Edward P Kremer OAM MBBS [Syd]
Director

MRACMA MRACGP

GENERAL PRACTITIONER
COLONEL CONSULTANT IN GENERAL PRACTICE - ARMY - EASTERN REGION

Mrs Ethel M Lane AM MBE
Director
COUNCIL MEMBER, WORLD VETERANS FEDERATION

Dr Charles G Pawsey MBBS[Adel]
Director

FRACP DDU

CHAIR, CONCORD REPATRIATION GENERAL HOSPITAL MEDICAL STAFF
COUNCIL
MEDICAL PRACTITIONER

Mrs Beryl Page
Director
PRESIDENT, WAR WIDOWS GUILD OF NSW LIMITED

Mr Graham F Richardson
Director
RADIO PRESENTER

Ms Kerry Russell RN BAdmin(Nsg) UNE, MCN
Director
DIRECTOR OF NURSING SERVICES, CONCORD REPATRIATION GENERAL
HOSPITAL

Ms Ann E Sanders
Director
TELEVISION JOURNALIST, SENIOR NEWS PRESENTER

Dr Margaret M Sanger MBBS (Hons) [Syd]
Director

MHA

DIRECTOR MEDICAL SERVICES, CONCORD REPATRIATION GENERAL
HOSPITAL
MEDICAL PRACTITIONER

Rear Admiral Peter R Sinclair AC
Director
GOVERNOR, M.B.F.
CHAIRMAN, COUNCIL OF THE ORDER OF AUSTRALIAN
DEPUTY CHAIRMAN, NEWCASTLE PERMANENT BUILDING SOCIETY

Sir Bruce Williams KBE BA (Hons)[Melb] MA[Adel]

Hon DLitt [Syd & Keele]
Hon LLD [Melb & Manchester] Hon DE-Con (Qld) Hon DSc FASSA Hon FIEAust

Director
DIRECTOR, CLADON CULTURAL EXCHANGE INSTITUTE OF AUSTRALIA
DIRECTOR, SYDNEY INTERNATIONAL PIANO COMPETITION OF AUSTRALIA
PRESIDENT, SYDNEY SPRING FESTIVAL OF NEW MUSIC

At this date no director has any interest in the equity of the
company.
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The principal activities of the ANZAC Health and Medical Research Foundation during the year were that of acting as
trustee for the ANZAC Health and Medical Research Foundation Trust Fund. There was no significant change in the
nature of that activity during the year.

OPERATING RESULTS
The company did not trade in its own right, and made neither a profit nor a loss.

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN STATE OF AFFAIRS
There were no significant changes in the state of affairs of the ANZAC Health and Medical Research Foundation during the year.

MATTERS SUBSEQUENT TO THE END OF THE FINANCIAL PERIOD
No matter or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial period which significantly affected or may
significantly affect the operations of the ANZAC Health & Medical Research Foundation, the results of those operations,
or the state of affairs of the ANZAC Health & Medical Research Foundation in subsequent years.

LIKELY DEVELOPMENTS
The company will continue to act as trustee of the ANZAC Health and Medical Research Foundation Trust Fund.

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS
The combined effect of all fund raising campaigns conducted by the trust throughout the financial year has raised
$278,477 in cash ($373,337 for 1999/2000) and $4,000 in pledges ($206,840 for 1999/2000).

MEETINGS OF DIRECTORS
During the financial period, meetings of directors, including committees, were held. Attendances were:

COUNCIL MEETINGS
DIRECTOR’S NAME

Professor J. Young AO (Chair)
Mr. G. Priest AM (Deputy Chair)
Mrs. F. Barr (Hon. Treasurer)
Mrs. K. Chikarovski MP
Mr. M. Daly Appointed 14.12.2000
Mr. A. Davidson AM MBE
Professor M. Field Appointed 29.8.2000
The Hon. T. Fischer MP
Mr. L. Graves
Professor D. Handelsman
Mr G. Hartigan
Dr. D. Horvath AO
Dr. P. Kennedy Resigned 14.12.2000
Dr E. Kremer OAM
Mrs. E. Lane AM MBE
Mrs. B. Page
Dr. C. Pawsey
Mr. G. Richardson
Ms. K. Russell
Ms. A. Sanders
Dr. M. Sanger
Rear Admiral Peter Sinclair AC
Sir Bruce Williams KBE

NUMBER ELIGIBLE
TO ATTEND

NUMBER
ATTENDED

APPROVED LEAVE
OF ABSENCE

3
3
3
3
1
3
3
3
3
3
3
3
1
3
3
3
3
3
3
3
3
3
3

3
1
3
0
0
2
3
0
1
3
2
3
0
0
1
2
3
0
1
0
3
1
3

0
0
0
3
0
0
0
3
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
3
0
3
0
0
0
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EXECUTIVE BOARD MEETINGS
DIRECTOR’S NAME
Professor J. Young AO (Chair)
Mr. G. Priest AM (Deputy Chair)
Mrs. F. Barr (Hon. Treasurer)
Mr M. Daly Appointed 14.12.2000
Mr. A. Davidson AM MBE
Dr. P. Kennedy Resigned 14.12.2000
Professor D. Handelsman
Mr G. Hartigan
Dr. D. Horvath AO
Mrs. E. Lane AM MBE
Dr. C. Pawsey
Ms. K. Russell
Dr. M. Sanger
Sir Bruce Williams KBE

NUMBER ELIGIBLE
TO ATTEND

NUMBER
ATTENDED

2
2
2
0
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2

2
2
1
0
2
2
2
0
0
0
2
2
2
2

NUMBER ELIGIBLE
TO ATTEND

NUMBER
ATTENDED

APPROVED LEAVE
OF ABSENCE

2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2

2
0
2
1
2
2
2
1

0
2
0
0
0
0
0
0

RESEARCH COMMITTEE MEETINGS
DIRECTOR’S NAME
Professor M. Field (Chair)
Professor S. Freedman
Professor D. Handelsman
Associate Professor R. Walls
Associate Professor G. Nicholson
Dr. S. Riminiton
Dr. J. Kril
Dr. D. Brieger
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DIRECTORS INDEMNIFICATION
The ANZAC Health and Medical Research Foundation has not, during or since the financial year, in respect of any person
who is or has been an officer:• indemnified or made any relevant agreement for indemnifying against a liability incurred as an officer, including costs
or expenses in successfully defending legal proceedings; or
• paid or agreed to pay a premium in respect of a contract insuring against a liability incurred as an officer for the costs
or expenses to defend legal proceedings.
The NSW Treasury Managed Fund extends appropriate insurance to all directors appointed by the Central Sydney Area
Health Service in accordance with Article of Association 29 [a] [b] [c]. The NSW Treasury Managed Fund insures all
directors against liabilities for costs and expenses incurred by them in defending any legal proceedings arising out of their
conduct while acting in the capacity of director of the company, other than conduct involving a wilful breach of duty in
relation to the company.

DIRECTORS BENEFITS
Neither since the financial year nor during the financial year has a director received or become entitled to receive a
benefit by reason of a contract made by the company, an entity controlled by the Company, or a body corporate that
was related to the company when the contract was made or when the director received or became entitled to receive
the benefit with the director or with a firm of which the director is a member, or an entity in which the director has a
substantial financial interest.
Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors.

F. M. Barr - Director

J. A. Young AO - Director

Dated this 19th day of November 2001 at Sydney.
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2001
Note
Revenue
Profit from ordinary activities before income tax expense

2001
$

2000
$

0

0

2

0

0

1(C)

0

0

Profit from ordinary activities after related Income tax expense

0

0

Total changes in equity other than those resulting from transactions
with owners as owners

0

0

2001
$

2000
$

Total Assets

0

0

Total Liabilities

0

0

Net Assets

0

0

Shareholders Equity

0

0

Note

2001
$

2000
$

3

0

0

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Net investing cash flows

0

0

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Net financing cash flows

0

0

Net increase (decrease) in cash held

0

0

Cash at the beginning of financial year

0

0

Cash at the end of the financial year

0

0

Income tax expense relating to ordinary activities

The accompanying notes form an integral part of this statement of financial performance.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AT 30 JUNE 2001

The accompanying notes form an integral part of this statement of financial position.

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2001

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net operating cash flows

The accompanying notes form an integral part of this statement of cash flows.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(A) BASIS OF ACCOUNTING
The financial statements have been prepared as a general purpose financial report that complies with the requirements
of the Corporations Act, Australian Accounting Standards, Urgent Issues Group Consensus Views and with the
requirements of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983 and the Health Services Act 1999 and its regulations. The
accounting policies used are consistent with those adopted in the previous year. The financial statements have also been
prepared in accordance with the historical cost convention and do not take account of changes in the general
purchasing power of the dollar.
(B) ACCOUNTING RECORDS
As required by Section 45C of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983, the Foundation has kept proper accounts and
records in relation to all its activities.
(C) INCOME TAX
The Foundation is exempt from income tax under Section 23(j) of the Income Tax Assessment Act.
(D) TRUSTEE
The company acts as trustee for the ANZAC Health and Medical Research Foundation Trust Fund. The accounting
policies adopted by the company in the preparation of the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2001 reflect
the fiduciary nature of the company’s responsibility for the assets and liabilities of the ANZAC Health and Medical
Research Foundation Trust Fund which are set out in note 4.

NOTE 2: PROFIT FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES
The company did not trade during the past financial year.

NOTE 3: RECONCILIATION OF NET CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES TO OPERATING RESULT
2001
$

2000
$

Net profit

0

0

Net cash

0

0

NOTE 4: ASSETS AND LIABILITIES OF THE FOUNDATION
The company acts as trustee for the ANZAC Health and Medical Research Foundation Trust Fund. The assets and
liabilities of the ANZAC Health and Medical Research Foundation Trust Fund as disclosed in the financial statements of
the Trust are as follows:
2001
$

2000
$

Current Assets
Non-Current Assets

2,459,189
5,788,043

2,784,837
5,108,724

TOTAL ASSETS

8,247,232

7,893,561

129,960
129,960

12,923
12,923

Current liabilities
TOTAL LIABILITIES
NET ASSETS

8,117,272

7,880,638

Represented by TRUST FUNDS

8,117,272

7,880,638

ANZAC Health and Medical Research Foundation
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NOTE 5: RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES AND REMUNERATION AND RETIREMENT BENEFITS
No directors received, directly or indirectly income paid, payable, or otherwise made available from ANZAC Health and
Medical Research Foundation during this financial year.
No amount was paid, on behalf of a director, to a superannuation plan.
The names of Foundation’s directors who have held office during the financial year are:
Mrs F. M. Barr
Ms K. A Chikarovski MP
Mr M. Daly Appointed 14.12.2000
Mr A. K Davidson AM MBE
Prof. M. J. Field Appointed 29.8.2000
Mr T. A Fischer
Mr L. J. Graves
Prof. D. J. Handelsman

Mr G. J. Hartigan
Dr D. G. Horvath AO
Dr P. J. Kennedy Resigned 14.12.2000
Dr E. P. Kremer OAM
Mrs E. M. Lane AM MBE
Mrs B. M. Page
Dr C. G. Pawsey
Mr G. E. Priest AM

Mr G. F. Richardson
Ms K. J. Russell
Ms A. E. Sanders
Dr M. M. Sanger
R/Adm Peter Sinclair AC
Sir Bruce Williams KBE
Prof. J. A. Young AO

NOTE 6: GUARANTEE
The Foundation is limited by guarantee. In the event that the Foundation is wound up, the Memorandum of
Association states that each director is required to contribute $20.00 each towards meeting outstanding obligations of
the Foundation.

NOTE 7: SEGMENT LEVEL REPORTING
As the trustee for the ANZAC Health and Medical Research Foundation Trust Fund, the principal activity of the company
during the financial period was to promote and facilitate healthcare delivery and research on illness and disease
associated with lifestyle and ageing. The financial results of the company fully reflect the conduct of this activity.
The geographical location of the company is Australia.

DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION
The Directors declare that:
1. (a) the financial statements and associated notes comply with the accounting standards and Urgent Issues Group
Consensus Views;
(b) the financial statements and notes give a true and fair view of the financial position as at 30 June 2001 and
performance of the company for the year then ended;
(c) in the directors’ opinion;
(i) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its debts as when they become
due and payable.
(ii) the financial statements and notes are in accordance with the Corporations Act, including sections 296 and 297.
Made in accordance with a resolution of the directors.

F. M. Barr - Director

J. A. Young AO - Director

Dated this 19 day of November 2001 at Sydney.
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ANZAC HEALTH & MEDICAL RESEARCH FOUNDATION TRUST FUND
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
Note

2001
$

2000
$

1,155,631

945,823

236,634

585,829

0

0

Profit from ordinary activities after related income tax expense

236,634

585,829

Total changes in equity other than those resulting from transactions
with owners as owners

236,634

585,829

Revenue
Profit from ordinary activities before income tax expense
Income tax expense relating to ordinary activities

2(b)
2
1(D)

THE ACCOMPANYING NOTES FORM AN INTEGRAL PART OF THIS STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AT 30 JUNE 2001
Note

2001
$

2000
$

555,223
1,830,000
73,966

681,550
2,099,000
4,287

2,459,189

2,784,837

5,788,043

5,108,724

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS

5,788,043

5,108,724

TOTAL ASSETS

8,247,232

7,893,561

107,999
21,961

11,894
1,029

129,960

12,923

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash assets
Other financial assets
Receivables

4
5
6

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS
NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Payables
Employee provisions

7

8
9

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES
TOTAL LIABILITIES
NET ASSETS
TRUST FUNDS
Settlement account
Accumulated funds
TOTAL TRUST FUNDS
The accompanying notes from an integral part of this Statement of Financial Position.
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12
11

129,960

12,923

8,117,272

7,880,638

100
8,117,172

100
7,880,538

8,117,272

7,880,638
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2001
Note

2001
$

2000
$

442,400
431,535
(647,675)
122,640
83,398
432,298

10,000
474,068
(353,629)
298,858
183,903
613,200

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Receipts from grants - State Government
Receipts from donations
Payments to suppliers and employees
Interest received
Other receipts
Net operating cash flows

3

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Payment for property, plant and equipment

(827,625)

(4,679,995)

Net investing cash flows

(827,625)

(4,679,995)

Net increase (decrease) in cash held

(395,327)

(4,066,795)

Cash at the beginning of the financial year

2,780,550

6,847,345

2,385,223

2,780,550

Cash at the end of the financial year

3

The accompanying notes from an integral part of this Statement of Cash Flows.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(A) BASIS OF ACCOUNTING
The financial statements have been prepared as a general purpose financial report that complies with the requirements
of the Corporations Act, Australian Accounting Standards, Urgent Issues Group Consensus Views and with the
requirements of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983 and the Health Services Act 1999 and its regulations. The
accounting policies used are consistent with those adopted in the previous year. The financial statements have also been
prepared in accordance with the historical cost convention and do not take account of changes in the general
purchasing power of the dollar.
(B) ACCOUNTING RECORDS
As required by Section 45C of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983, the Trust Fund has kept proper accounts and
records in relation to all its activities.
(C) DEPRECIATION
Depreciation is provided for on a straight line basis against all depreciable assets so as to write off the depreciable
amount of each depreciable asset as it is consumed over its useful life to the ANZAC Health and Medical Research
Foundation, land is not considered a depreciable asset.
Property, plant and equipment have been depreciated from not later than the month following acquisition or operation.
Depreciation rates on individual assets are reviewed annually.
Detail of depreciation rates and useful lines for major asset categories, according to NSWHealth Accountancy Manual
rates, are as follows:

Buildings
Electro Medical Equipment
- Costing less than $200,000
- Costing more than $200,000
Computer Equipment
Computer Software
Office Equipment
Plant and Machinery
Furniture, Fittings and Furnishings

Rate

Life

0.2% - 2.8%

40 years (approx)

10.0%
12.5%
20.0%
20.0%
10.0% - 12.5%
10.0%
10.0%

10 years
8 years
5 years
5 years
8-10 years
10 years
10 years

(D) INCOME TAX
The Trust Fund is exempt from income tax under Section 23(j) of the Income Tax Assessment Act.
(E) PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Property, plant and equipment are brought to account at cost, less, where applicable, any accumulated depreciation.
The depreciable amount of all fixed assets is depreciated over their useful lives commencing from the time the asset is
held ready for use.
In the directors opinion the written down value is equal to the approximate market value.
Costs incurred in relation to the construction of the ANZAC Health & Medical Research Institute have been capitalised as
assets under construction and are carried at cost.
(F) CASH
For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, Cash includes cash on hand and at call deposits with banks or financial
institutions, net of bank overdrafts.
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(G) SETTLEMENT
The ANZAC Health and Medical Research Foundation Trust Fund was made between Robert Edward McKeown, the
settlor, and the ANZAC Health and Medical Research Foundation, the trustee, on 21 February 1995.
The Trust has carried out all trading activities in accordance with the provisions of the trust deed.
(H) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Financial instruments give rise to positions that are a financial asset of either ANZAC Health & Medical Research
Foundation or its counterparty and a financial liability (or Equity instrument) of the other party. For ANZAC Health and
Medical Research Foundation these include cash at bank, receivables, investments and creditors.
In accordance with Australian Accounting Standard AAS33, “Presentation and Disclosure of Financial Instruments”,
information is disclosed in Note 16 in respect of the interest rate risk and credit risk of financial instruments. All such
amounts are carried in the accounts at net fair value. The specific accounting policy in respect of each class of such
financial instrument is stated hereunder.
Classes of instruments recorded at cost and their terms and conditions at balance date are as follows:
(i) Cash
Accounting Policies - Cash is carried at nominal values reconcilable to monies on hand and independent bank statements.
Terms and Conditions - Monies on deposit attract an effective interest rate of 1.74% - 2.99% (1.65% and 5.1% for
1999/2000) & 2.75% and 5.42% (4.40% and 5.25% for 1999/2000) at balance date.
(ii) Receivables
Accounting Policies - Receivables are carried at nominal amounts due less any provision for doubtful debts.

A provision

of doubtful debts is recognised when collection of the full nominal amount is no longer probable.
Terms and Conditions - Accounts are issued on 30day terms.
(iii) Investments
Accounting Policies - Investments reported at cost include both short term and fixed term deposits.

Interest is
recognised in the Operating Statement when earned.
Terms and Conditions - Fixed term deposits have an average maturity of 40 days (40 days for 1999/2000) and effective
interest rate of 4.04% to 6.24% 2000 - 2001 (4.20% to 6.08% for 1999/2000).
(iv) Creditors
Accounting Policies - Creditors are recognised for amounts to be paid in the future of goods and services received,
whether or not billed to the Foundation.
Terms and Conditions - Trade liabilities are settled within any terms specified. If no terms are specified, payments are
made by the end of the month following the month in which the invoice is received.

There are no classes of instruments that are recorded at other than cost or market valuation. All financial instruments
including revenue, expenses and other cash flows arising from instruments are recognised on an accrual basis.
(I) RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT COSTS
Research and development costs are charged to expense in the year in which they are incurred.
(J) PROVISION FOR EMPLOYEE ENTITLEMENTS
Provision has been made in the financial statements for benefits accruing to employees in relation to annual leave, long
service leave, workers’ compensation and vested sick leave. No provision is made for non-vesting sick leave as the
anticipated pattern of future sick leave taken indicated that accumulated non-vesting leave will never be paid.
All on-costs, including payroll tax, workers’ compensation premiums and fringe benefits tax are included in the current
portion of long service leave and workers’ compensation provision are measured at their nominal amounts.
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(K) REVENUE RECOGNITION
Revenue arising from the sale of goods, the provision of services and the use of the Trust’s assets is recognised when:
a) the Trust has passed control of the goods or other assets to the buyer;
b) the Trust controls a right to be compensated for services rendered;
c) the Trust controls a right relating to the consideration payable for the provision of investment assets;
d) it is probable that the economic benefits comprising the consideration will flow to the entity;
e) the amount of the revenue can be measured reliably.
(L) GOODS AND SERVICES TAX (GST)
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except:
• the amount of GST incurred by the agency as a purchaser that is not recoverable from the Australian Tax Office
is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of an asset or as part of an item of expense;
• receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included.

NOTE 2: PROFIT FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES
(A) PROFIT FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES IS AFTER CHARGING THE FOLLOWING EXPENSES:
2001
$

2000
$

193,651
10,308
41,341

179,860
2,795
1,229

41,355
3,082
54,606
38,153

4,544
650
58,196
63,736

Audit Fees
Books & Reference Material
Stationery & Office Supplies
Freight & Courier
Miscellaneous Admin Expenses
Total Administrative

0
6,879
30,069
2,829
34,755
211,728

2,500
438
28,146
1,463
7,449
167,122

Depreciation

148,306

4,102

Repairs, Maintenance & Renewals
Equipment
Other
Total Repairs Maintenance & Renewals

288,078
25,585
313,663

4,886
0
4,886

Total Expenditure

918,997

359,994

Charging as Expenses
Salary and Wages
Superannuation
Consumables
Administrative
Conference, Training & Travel
Advertising
Functions
Consultants

(B) PROFIT FORM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES AFTER CREDITING THE FOLLOWING REVENUES:
Donations - Corporate
Donations - Research
Donations - RSL
Donations - Other
Fundraising Activities
Research Grant - State Government
Interest Income
Other Revenue
Total Revenue
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128,351
244,624
32,770
25,790
89,042
442,400
122,319
70,335

117,720
284,635
19,602
52,112
145,190
10,000
277,851
38,713

1,155,631

945,823
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NOTE 3: NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
2001
$

2000
$

(A) RECONCILIATION OF NET PROFIT AFTER INCOME TAX TO NET CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net profit after income tax

236,634

585,829

Depreciation
Provision for employee entitlement
(Increase)/Decrease in receivables
Increase/(Decrease) in creditors

148,306
20,932
(69,679)
96,105

4,102
(218)
21,007
2,480

Net cash from operating activities

432,298

613,200

Adjustments for non-cash income and expense items

(B) RECONCILIATION OF CASH
Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the statement of cash flows is reconciled to the related items in the
statement of financial position as follows:
Cash at Bank
Cash on Hand
Current Investments

555,173
50
1,830,000

681,500
50
2,099,000

2,385,223

2,780,550

2001
$

2000
$

Cash on Hand
General Account
Research Account
General Cash Management Account
Research Cash Management Account

50
90,062
97,912
245,260
121,939

50
9,079
255,883
297,759
118,779

Total Cash Assets

555,223

681,550

2001
$

2000
$

1,830,000

2,099,000

2001
$

2000
$

Accounts receivable
Interest receivable

70,000
3,966

4,287

Total Receivables

73,966

4,287

NOTE 4: CASH ASSETS

NOTE 5: OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

Short Term Cash Deposits

Investments comprise of interest bearing deposits held with financial institutions.
Market values of investments are the same as their book value.

NOTE 6: RECEIVABLES - CURRENT
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NOTE 7: PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Buildings

Assets under
Construction

Plant &
Equipment

2001 Total

2000 Total

Balance 1 July 2000
Additions
Disposals
Reclassification/Transfers

4,448,683
663,929
0
600,527

602,027
0
0
(600,527)

62,340
165,196
0
0

5,113,050
829,125
0
0

438,735
4,679,995
(4,180)
0

Balance at 30 June 2001

5,713,139

1,500

227,536

5,942,175

5,114,550

0
129,928
0

0
0
0

5,826
18,378
0

5,826
148,306
0

5,903
4,103
(4,180)

DEPRECIATION
Balance 1 July 2000
Charge for the year
Adjustments for Disposals
Balance at 30 June 2001
Written Down Value

129,928

0

24,204

154,132

5,826

5,583,211

1,500

203,332

5,788,043

5,108,724

2001
$

2000
$

97,727
11,894

10,272
0

107,999

11,894

2001
$

2000
$

NOTE 8: PAYABLES

Creditors and Accruals
GST Payables

NOTE 9: EMPLOYEE PROVISIONS

Employee Entitlements

21,961

1,029

NOTE 10: COMMITMENTS
2001
$

2000
$

-

649,000

Accumulated
2001

Funds
2000

$

$

Capital expenditure commitments which have not been provided for in the accounts:
Payable not later than one year

NOTE 11: EQUITY
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Balance at beginning of financial year
Changes in Equity-other than Transactions
With owners as owners
Result for the year from Ordinary Activities

7,880,538

236,634

585,829

Balance at the end of the financial year

8,117,172

7,880,538
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NOTE 12: SETTLEMENT ACCOUNT
Accumulated
2001

Funds
2000

$

$

100

100

Payment by the Settlor of the Trust Deed

NOTE 13: RESTRICTED ASSETS
The financial statements include investments of $1,830,000 ($2,223,500 in the previous period) that are restricted by
the grantor’s donor requirements to be expended on the establishment of a Medical Research Centre. As indicated in
Note 1(F), assets under construction have been capitalised during 2000-2001 and amounted to $662,429 ($ 4,626,647
for 1999/2000).

NOTE 14: SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
Funds have been pledged by sponsors totalling $4,000 ($206,840 in the previous period).

NOTE 15: RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES AND REMUNERATION AND RETIREMENT BENEFITS
No Directors received, directly or indirectly income paid or payable, or otherwise made available from ANZAC Health and
Medical Research Foundation during this financial year.
No amount was paid, on behalf of a director, to a superannuation plan.

NOTE 16: FUNDRAISING AND APPEAL ACTIVITIES
The ANZAC Health and Medical Research Foundation is a certified holder of an authority to raise funds under the
provision of Section 16 of the Charitable Fundraising Act, 1991.
Income received and the cost of raising income for specific fundraising, has been audited and all revenue and expenses
have been recognised in the financial statement of the ANZAC Health and Medical Research Foundation.
Income
Raised

Direct
Expenditure

Indirect
Expenditure

2001 Net
Proceed

Appeals - Consultants
Appeals - In house
Raffles
Functions

65,400
106,653
4,320
102,104

0
2,880
248
49,872

-

65,400
103,773
4,072
52,232

223,019
97,190

Total

278,477

53,000

-

225,477

320,209

100%

19.03%

-

80.97%

85.80%

Percentage of Income

2000 Net
Proceed

Direct Expenditure includes printing, postage, raffle prizes, consulting fees, etc.
Indirect Expenditure relates to overheads such as office staff administrative costs, cost apportionment of light, power and
other overheads.
The net proceeds were held in ANZAC Health & Medical Research Foundation pending allocation.
The provisions of the Charitable Fundraising Act 1991 and the regulations under the Act have been complied with and
internal controls exercised by the ANZAC Health & Medical Research Foundation are considered appropriate and
effective in accounting for all the income received in all material respects.
ANZAC Health and Medical Research Foundation
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NOTE 17: FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(A) INTEREST RATE RISK EXPOSURES
Interest rate risk, is the risk that the value of the financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates.
ANZAC Health & Medical Research Foundation’s exposure to interest rate risks and the effective interest rates of financial
assets and liabilities, both recognised and unrecognised, at the Statement of Financial Position date are as follows:
Financial Instruments

Floating
Interest Rate

Non-Interest
bearing

Total Carrying
Amount as per
Statement of
Financial Position

Total Carrying
Amount as per
Statement of
Financial Position

2001
$000

2001
$000

2001
$000

2000
$000

Cash
Receivables
Other loans &deposits

555
0
1,830

0
10
0

555
10
1,830

682
4
2,099

Total Financial Assets

2,385

10

2,395

2,785

Creditors

0

108

108

Total Financial Liabilities

0

108

108

Weighted
Weighted
Average
Average
Effective
Effective
Interest rate* Interest rate*
2001
%

2000
%

Financial Assets
3.23%

4.11%

5.59%

5.14%

9

-

-

9

-

-

Financial Liabilities

* Weighted average effective interest rate was computed on a semi-annual basis. It is not applicable for the non-interest bearing
financial instruments.

B) CREDIT RISK EXPOSURES
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss arising from another party to a contract/or financial position failing to discharge a
financial obligation thereunder. The ANZAC Health and Medical Research Foundation’s maximum exposure to Credit
Risk is represented by the carrying amounts of the financial assets included in the Statement of Financial Position.
Credit Risk by classification of counterparty.
Banks
2001
$000

Total
2001
$000

Total
2000
$000

Cash
Receivables
Shares
Treasure Corp. Investments
Other Loans & Deposits

555
10
0
0
1,830

555
10
0
0
1,830

682
4
0
0
2,099

Total Financial Assets

2,395

2,395

2,785

Financial Assets
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TRUSTEES’ DECLARATION
The Trustees declare that:
a) the Financial Statements and associated notes comply with the trust deed, accounting standards and Urgent Issues
Group Consensus Views;
b) the Financial Statements and notes give a true and fair view of the financial position as at 30 June 2001 and
performance of the company for the year then ended;
c) in the trustee’s opinion;
(i) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the trust will be able to pay its debts as when they become due and
payable.
(ii) the financial statements and notes are in accordance with the trust deed.

Made in accordance with a resolution of the directors.

F. M. Barr - Director

J. A. Young AO - Director

Dated this 19th day of November 2001 at Sydney.
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This year has been a year of growth for the
Foundation and the ANZAC Research
Institute. Such growth would not be
possible without the continuing support of
both state and federal government, the
corporate sector, RSL Sub Branches and
Clubs and the thousands of supporters and
friends of the ANZAC Health and Medical
Research Foundation.
The main focus of the Foundation this year has
been to establish the ANZAC Research Institute
as an operational medical research facility. With
this objective achieved, the Institute continues to
flourish and expand.
Our Friends of the ANZAC Research Institute
(FOTARI) continue to be a consistent source of
support for which we are very grateful. We
would be delighted to welcome new members.
Subscription details are available from the
Foundation office.
The ANZAC Research Institute held its inaugural
Annual Research Seminar on the theme of “The
Ageing Male” in August 2000. It was attended
by medical professionals eager to hear the latest
developments discussed by two famous overseas
scientists together with key Australian medical
researchers. It proved to be a very informative
and profitable event.
This year the Foundation conducted two major
fundraising events.
The first event was the Foundation’s 6th
Anniversary Gala Dinner and Auction held at the
Sydney Town Hall on 25th November 2000. The
evening was a complete success with the overall
function and auction raising in excess of $45,000
for the Foundation.
The second event was a Cocktail Party held at
“Fairwater”, Lady Mary Fairfax’s spectacular
property at Double Bay on 23rd March 2001.
Supporters and sponsors of the ANZAC Research
Institute enjoyed cocktails on the terrace at
“Fairwater” whilst taking in spectacular harbour
views at sunset.
Baxter Healthcare were once again the major
sponsor of both of these events and the
Foundation would like to sincerely thank all at
Baxter for their continued support of our
research endeavours.
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Donations
Many interested people and concerned companies have contributed generously over the years - a large number
of them do so each year. This support is vital for our ongoing success, both nationally and internationally. The
sophisticated equipment necessary for research has a relatively short life and our ability to continue to contribute
to the advancement of medical knowledge is heavily dependent on access to state-of-the-art equipment. Please
help the ANZAC Health and Medical Research Foundation by completing the donation coupon.

Bequests
If you wish to leave the whole or part of your estate to the ANZAC Health and Medical Research Foundation,
you could include a provision in your Will in the following terms:
I GIVE DEVISE AND BEQUEATH to the ANZAC Health and Medical Research Foundation, the whole (or specified
percentage; or the residue) of my estate of whatsoever nature or kind and wheresoever situated to be applied
for the purposes of the ANZAC Health and Medical Research Foundation in such manner as the Council of the
ANZAC Health and Medical Research Foundation may determine.

Memorial Gifts
A number of our donors send gifts in memory of friends or loved one - a most thoughtful gesture.

Gift Appeal
Help the ANZAC Health & Medical Research Foundation raise the funds to equip state-of-the-art research laboratories in the
ANZAC Research Institute which will enable vital medical research to continue.
The ANZAC Research Institute will provide leadership and excellence in health and medical research activities throughout
Australia, focusing on lifestyle and ageing issues to improve the future health standards for the Australasian community. In
so doing the Foundation plans to provide a lasting legacy to the veterans and war widows who have created the society we
have today.
As the original ANZAC’s gift to the nation contributed to the well being of future generations, your gift in their name will
continue this proud tradition.

❏ YES! I want to contribute a donation of $ __________ to the ANZAC Foundation.
❏ YES! I want to become a member of the “FRIENDS OF THE ANZAC RESEARCH INSTITUTE”
❏ Individual Membership $50.00
❏ YES! I want more information on how to give a gift in my Will to the ANZAC Foundation.
I enclose cheque/money order or debit to my credit card no:

❏ Bankcard

❏ Visa

Card No: __ / __ / __ / __ /

❏ Masterscard
__ / __ / __ / __ /

__ / __ / __ / __ /

__ / __ / __ / __ /

Expiry:__ / __

Signature:
Name: Mr / Ms / Mrs / Dr
Address:

Suburb or Town:

Phone: (H)
THANK YOU!

P/Code:

(W)
PLEASE RETURN TO: Reply Paid 30
ANZAC Health & Medical Research Foundation
Concord RG Hospital, Hospital Road, CONCORD NSW 2139
Ph: 02 9767 9100 Fax: 02 9767 9101 Email: anzac@anzac.edu.au

(Donations of $2.00 or more to the ANZAC Health & Medical Research Foundation are tax deductible)
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Donor Honour Roll
Donor Honour Roll

Veteran and Community
Organisations Donor
Honour Roll
$1,000 and over
Balranald RSL Sub Branch
Burwood RSL Sub Branch
Canturbury-Hurlstone Park RSL Sub
Branch
Chester Hill-Carramar RSL Sub
Branch
Enfield Croydon Park RSL Sub Branch
Ex Australian Army Medical Women’s
Association of NSW
Forster/Tuncurry RSL Sub Branch
Goulburn RSL Sub Branch
Lidcombe RSL Sub Branch
Military Medical Symposium
Returned Sisters RSL Sub Branch
Ryde Ex-Services Memorial Club

Department of Haematology,
Concord RG Hosptial
$10,000 and over
AstraZeneca
James N Kirby Foundation
Toshiba Australia
$1,000 and over
Arthur T George Foundation
Elanora Country Club
Paynter Dixon Constructions
Pharmacia Australia
Terumo Corporation

“Friends of the ANZAC
Research Institute”
Honour Roll
$1,000 and over

$500 and over
Ashfield RSL Sub Branch
Bondi Junction-Waverley RSL Sub
Branch
Burwood RSL Club
Concord RSL Club
Coogee Randwick RSL Sub Branch
Dubbo RSL Sub Branch
Hurstville RSL Memorial Club
Hurstville RSL Sub Branch
Junee Ex-Service Memorial Club
Junee RSL Sub Branch
Moss Vale RSL Sub Branch
RAAF Association
$100 and over
Australian Legion Ex Services Club
Bankstown RSL Sub Branch
Callala Beach RSL Sub Branch
Chatswood RSL Sub Branch
City of Bankstown RSL Sub Branch
Clovelly RSL Sub Branch
Concord District RSL Sub Branch
Cronulla RSL Sub Branch
Merrylands RSL Sub Branch
North Sydney RSL Sub Branch
Parkes RSL Sub Branch
Petersham RSL Sub Branch

Corporate Donor Honour Roll
$20,000 and over
Baxter Healthcare Pty Ltd
Commonwealth Bank of Australia

Mr Denis Aitken
Dr Paul Collett
Dr Michael Hayes
Dr Stephen Kalowski
Dr John Linsley
Dr Charles Pawsey
Dr Paul Waizer
$500 and over
Dr
Dr
Dr
Dr
Dr
Dr

Ross Bradbury
Ramon Bullock
Greg Falk
Maryann Nichols
Garry Pearce
William Regan

$100 and over
Mr Keith & Mrs Joan Allan
Mr Eric Appleton
Mr JR Belcher
Dr Francis Booth
Dr David Brieger
Sir Ron Brierley
Dr Bill Brooks
Dr F Burns
Mrs Doreen Caddow
Mr William Carter
Professor John Chalmers
Mr H Clarke
Dr Eileen Collins
Mr Alan Davidson AM MBE
Mr Alfred Derricott
Dr Arthur Everitt
Mr LJ & Mrs GJ Ford

Mr Peter Gray
Dr Francis Harding Burns
Mr M Joyner
Mr AE Kent
Professor JR Lawrence
Mr & Mrs Lowden
Mr DW Maguire
Mr Douglas McDonald
Mr Max Murphy
Mr Nash
Professor Garth Nicholson
Mr PL Peters
Mr Colin Robertson
Mrs GM Smith
Dr Soji Swaraj
Dr Thomson
Mr Anh Dung Tran
Mr BG Turner
Professor Ron Walls
Mr & Mrs CR Waud
Dr WB White
Mr D Williams
$50 and over
Mrs Jean Blair
Mrs AJ Blight
Brightwater Arts Pty Ltd
Mr David Curtin
Mr KJ Farrugia
Mrs EM Fitzgerald
Mr William Forbes
Professor Ben Freedman
Mr Mai Hoa
Mr Mark Hossen
Mr Bryn Jones
Dr Agnes Kainer-Geyer
Mr Ngoc Le
Mr R & Mrs L Massaria
Mr Lionel Mead
Brigadier RW Morris
Mr John Murphy MP
Mr Ron O’Connor
Mr Harry Overton
Mr ML Roberts
Mr GG Rossiter
Mrs Maida Sills
Ms Anna & Ms Patricia Shepherd
Professor Peter Thursby
Mr Allan Venn
Mr John White
Mr P & Mrs M Yvanovich
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2000/2001 Event Sponsors
2000/2001 Event Sponsors

The Council of the ANZAC Health & Medical Research Foundation would like to express their sincere
thanks and appreciation to the following sponsors for their support of the Foundation’s fundraising
events. This year sponsors assisted with raising funds by supporting the 6th Anniversary Gala Dinner
and Auction held at The Sydney Town Hall on 25th November 2000 and a Cocktail Party held at
‘Fairwater’, Lady Mary Fairfax’s stunning property at Double Bay on 23rd March 2001.

ANNIVERSARY GALA DINNER
SPONSORS
Major Sponsor
Baxter Healthcare Pty Ltd
Corporate Sponsors
AAP
Ansett Australia
Australian Jockey Club
Canberra Toyota
Castrol Australia
Channel 7
Concord RG Hospital Volunteers Auxiliary Inc
The Hon. Mrs Kerry Chikarovski MP
Mr Alan Davidson AM MBE
Department of Veterans’ Affairs
Ford Credit Australia
HCF Australia
Hotel Intercontinental
Huka Lodge, New Zealand
Hunt & Hunt Lawyers
Institute of Haematology, Concord RG Hospital
Johnson & Johnson (Medical)
Professor Robert Lusby
Macquarie Radio Network
Ordal Australia Pty Ltd
Regal Health Services
Royal Australian Airforce Command Band
RSL Hyde Park Inn
Serono
Sydney Turf Club
Tintilla Estate Vineyard and Olive Grove
Tooheys Pty Ltd
Woodland Stud
Waterford Wedgewood
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COCKTAIL PARTY SPONSORS
Baxter Healthcare Pty Ltd
Lady Mary Fairfax AM OBE
Professor Lusby & Tintilla Estate Wines
Royal Australian Air Force Air Command Band
Tooheys Pty Ltd

ANZAC Health and
Medical Research Foundation
ABN 48 066 780 005

Registered Office
ANZAC Research Institute
Concord Repatriation General Hospital
Hospital Road, Concord NSW 2139 Australia
Telephone: 61 2 9767 9100
Facsimile: 61 2 9767 9101
email: anzac@anzac.edu.au

